# **Oracle CPQ Cloud**

IGURAT

# What's New in 2017 R1

May 2017

ELEASE ADINESS

77919190

R



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
REVISION HISTORY	
OVERVIEW	6
Give Us Feedback	6
RELEASE FEATURE SUMMARY	7
MODERN SELLING EXPERIENCE	
DEAL NEGOTIATION	
Price Score Metrics	8
Price Score Calculation Methods	9
Last Price Paid Metric	11
Deal Comparison Analytic	12
ENTERPRISE PLATFORM	16
BOM MAPPING ENHANCEMENTS	
Display BOM Mapping Rule Items in Configuration	16
Define Any Child Item in the BOM Hierarchy as a Model	19
Configure a BOM with Models as Children of Other Models	20
Package Lifecycle Management	22
Apply a Namespace to a Util Library Function	22
Lock or Unlock a Util Library Function	23
Create an Override Function	23
MIGRATION CENTER ENHANCEMENTS	
Natural Keys	27
Cross Process Migration	29
Performance Management Enhancements	33
Prevent Need for Environment Restart Under Extreme Load	
View New Events in the Event Log	34
Set a Timeout Period for an Integration XSL or a Middleware Integration	34
Execute an Action When an Integration XSL or Middleware Integration Times Out	35
Use an Optional Timeout Parameter for BML URL Access Functions	
Prevent UNNECESSARY Line Item Looping	
DATACUBE ENHANCEMENTS	
Extract All Content From a Commerce Attribute as a CLOB	
Filter the Transactions to Include in a DataCube Report	43
Provide More Control Over the DataCube Report Export Location	
Schedule More Than One DataCube Report	45
DATA COLUMN ENHANCEMENTS	

COMMERCE CLOUD INTEGRATION ENHANCEMENTS       S         Include BOM Items in the Add To Cart Payload Template       S         Use BOM Mapping Rules in SOAP API Response.       S         Generate a Configuration ID System Attribute.       S         Add Configuration Items to a Transaction Using a Single REST API Call       S         Use REST Service Enhancements in the Request for Quote Flow.       S         SUBSCRIPTION ORDERING INTEGRATION ENHANCEMENTS       S         Key Concepts       S         Create an Order From an External Client Application       S         Reconfigure an Asset-Based Product Using a REST API       S         Update an Asset Using a REST API       S         Update an Asset Using a REST API       S         Modify an Asset Using a REST API       S         Suspend an Asset Using a REST API       S         Resume an Asset Using a REST API       S         Resume an Asset Using a REST API       S         Resume an Asset Using a REST API       S         Renew an Asset Using a REST API       S         INTEGRATED CLOUD SERVICE CPQ ADAPTER ENHANCEMENTS       S         ICS Connection Properties for REST APIS       S         ICS Dusiness Resources for REST APIS       S         ICS Business Resources for REST APIS       S      <	
Include BOM Items in the Add To Cart Payload Template	0
Use BOM Mapping Rules in SOAP API Response	50
Generate a Configuration ID System Attribute	51
Add Configuration Items to a Transaction Using a Single REST API Call       Use REST Service Enhancements in the Request for Quote Flow         SUBSCRIPTION ORDERING INTEGRATION ENHANCEMENTS       S         Key Concepts       S         Create an Order From an External Client Application       S         Reconfigure an Asset-Based Product Using a REST API       S         Update an Asset Using a REST API       S         Update an Asset Using a REST API       S         Reconfigure an Asset Using a REST API       S         Update an Asset Using a REST API       S         Suspend an Asset Using a REST API       S         Resume an Asset Using a REST API       S         Suspend an Asset Using a REST API       S         Resume an Asset Using a REST API<	52
Use REST Service Enhancements in the Request for Quote Flow	54
SUBSCRIPTION ORDERING INTEGRATION ENHANCEMENTS       Subscription       Subscription	54
Key Concepts	8
Create an Order From an External Client Application	58
Reconfigure an Asset-Based Product Using a REST API       ()         Create a Follow-On Order Using a REST API       ()         Update an Asset Using a REST API       ()         Modify an Asset Using a REST API       ()         Terminate an Asset Using a REST API       ()         Suspend an Asset Using a REST API       ()         Resume an Asset Using a REST API       ()         Renew an Asset Using a REST API       ()         INTEGRATED CLOUD SERVICE CPQ ADAPTER ENHANCEMENTS       ()         ICS Connection Properties for REST APIs       ()         ICS Integration Categories for REST APIs       ()         ICS Business Resources for REST APIs       ()         ICS Business Resources for REST APIs       ()	50
Create a Follow-On Order Using a REST API	50
Update an Asset Using a REST API	51
Modify an Asset Using a REST API	52
Terminate an Asset Using a REST API	52
Suspend an Asset Using a REST API	53
Resume an Asset Using a REST API	54
Renew an Asset Using a REST API	54
INTEGRATED CLOUD SERVICE CPQ ADAPTER ENHANCEMENTS	5
ICS Connection Properties for REST APIs	7
ICS Integration Categories for REST APIs	57
ICS Business Resources for REST APIs	57
	58
ICS Mapping for REST APIs	58
TRANSACTION AND ASSETS REST APIS	'1
v4 REST API service enhancements	'1
New Transaction REST API Services	6'
New REST API Services for Assets	'9
SIMPLIFY	39
DOCUMENT DESIGNER ENHANCEMENTS	9
Add Inline References to RTE and HTML Attributes in a Text Element	29
Embed RTE and HTML Attributes in a Table Cell or a Header and Footer Layout	, J 1
Lise Newly Supported Functions in Conditions and Loops	) <u>-</u> ) <u>-</u>
Allow XSI Variables in Conditions and Loops	4
Use the Advanced Condition and Loop Editor	)5
Use New Date and Currency Formats	98
Auto-Adjust Table Width	)1
Insert Layouts and Elements Using Double Click and Palette Enhancements	)2
CONCURRENT TRANSACTION ACCESS	7
Enable Transaction Locking	)7
Lock a Transaction Upon Opening It in Transaction Manager	1
Unlock a Transaction	2
Open a Locked Transaction1	

Use a REST API to Request the State of a Transaction116
Allow Web Services Only Users to Perform Transaction Actions116
Use SOAP or REST APIs to Unlock Transactions117
Set a Destination for Back Type Actions
PRE-UPGRADE CONSIDERATIONS119
Known Functionality
Migration120
Resolved Known Issues120
Translation Status
POST-UPGRADE CONSIDERATIONS
Browser Support122
Salesforce Managed Package Support123
Training123
Additional Information124
Disclaimer124

# **REVISION HISTORY**

This document will continue to evolve as existing sections change and new information is added. All updates are logged below, with the most recent updates at the top.

Date	What's Changed	Notes		
19 MAY 2017		Initial Document Creation		

# OVERVIEW

This guide outlines information about new or improved functionality in Oracle Configure, Price, and Quote (CPQ) Cloud 2017 Release 1 (2017 R1). Each section includes a brief description of the feature, the steps you need to take to enable or begin using the feature, any tips or considerations to keep in mind, and the resources available to help you.

## GIVE US FEEDBACK

We welcome your comments and suggestions to help us improve this document. Send your feedback to <u>CPQ\_Cloud\_documentation\_us\_grp@oracle.com</u>.

## **RELEASE FEATURE SUMMARY**

Some of the new CPQ Cloud 2017 Release 1 features are automatically available to users after the upgrade and some require action from the company administrator or Oracle.

The following table offers a quick view of the actions required to enable each of the features.

	Action Required to Enable Feature					
Feature	Automatically Available	Administrator Action Required	Oracle Service Request Required			
Modern Selling Experience						
Deal Negotiation	✓	✓				
Enterprise Platform						
BOM Mapping Enhancements	✓					
Package Lifecycle Management			✓			
Migration Center Enhancements	✓	✓				
Performance Management Enhancements	✓	✓				
DataCube Enhancements	✓					
Data Column Enhancements	✓					
Integrated Suite						
Commerce Cloud Integration Enhancements		~				
Subscription Ordering Integration Enhancements		✓				
Integrated Cloud Service Based Integrations		✓				
Transaction and Asset REST APIs	✓	✓				
Simplify			·			
Document Designer Enhancements	✓					
Concurrent Transaction Access	~	✓				

## MODERN SELLING EXPERIENCE

Leverage the rich interface and interactive capabilities available in CPQ Cloud to provide a smarter selling experience.

• The Deal Negotiation features are available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1.

## **DEAL NEGOTIATION**

The CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 Deal Negotiation feature guides CPQ Cloud sales representatives in achieving optimal prices and discounts for their customers using Deal Negotiation metrics and a Deal Comparison analytic available for both Transactions and Transaction Lines. Through Deal Negotiation metrics such as Price Scores and Last Price Paid, sales representatives can better negotiate prices to drive profitability. Administrators can select predefined calculations for price scoring, with results displayed graphically to sales representatives in the Transaction and Transaction Line UIs. To further support Deal Negotiation, sales representatives can use a Deal Comparison analytic to display key price-related data for comparable Transactions and Transaction Lines.

In 2017 R1, CPQ Cloud delivers the following key metrics for the Deal Negotiation feature:

- Price Scores for Transaction Lines and Transactions
- Last Price Paid metric for Transaction Line currency-type attributes

## PRICE SCORE METRICS

Effective negotiation of prices with customers requires contextual information about the desirability of a price on two dimensions: profitability for the vendor, and likelihood that the customer will buy at that price. Sales users need to know how profitable the current proposed pricing is in order to guide their decisions to increase, decrease, or remove the discount. Since most customers do not reveal cost or margin information to Sales users, a Price Score metric can be used to provide this guidance. In addition to aiding the Sales user, the approver also benefits from a Price Score metric that quickly depicts profitability, without having to analyze detailed data.

The Price Score metric indicates relative profitability, with values ranging from one to nine. "1" indicates the worst or lowest profitability, and "9" indicates the best or highest profitability. In addition, the Price Score numbers are highlighted with different colors to provide a quick visual indication of profitability for Transactions and Transaction Lines. Prices Scores from one through three are highlighted in red, four through six are highlighted in yellow, and seven through nine are highlighted in green.

Administrators can add the Price Scores to relevant Commerce layouts, change the Price Score icons, and modify the Price Score calculations. CPQ Cloud's 2017 R1 release includes enhancements to Commerce Integer-type attributes to enable Price Score metrics for Transactions and Transaction Lines

## TRANSACTION PRICE SCORE

The Price Score for a Transaction represents a composite of the Prices Scores for the lines on the Transaction. This metric provides data that allows customers to determine if heavily discounted prices for some line items can be offset with high profitability on other lines on the transaction. The Transaction Price Score allows the sales and approval users to view the relative profitability of the Transaction as a whole. This calculation can be invoked from any Commerce Save action.

Quote Information	
Quote #:	Quote #331
Created By:	Super User
Quote Description:	Price Score Calculations
	1
PriceScore	5

**Transaction Price Score** 

## TRANSACTION LINE PRICE SCORE

The Transaction Line Price Score is populated via a calculation of the relative profitability of the current Net Price using a Margin Scoring algorithm.

Product	Quantity	Unit Price	List Price	Net Price	Unit Cost	Subtotal	Discount %	Price Score
GOOGLE Pixel	1	\$500.00	\$500.00	\$300.00	\$0.00	\$500.00	40,00	9
√īvo	1	\$800.00	\$800.00	\$800.00	\$400.00	\$800.00	0,00	
APPLE	1	\$400.00	\$400.00	\$600.00	\$400.00	\$400.00	-50,00	5

**Transaction Line Price Score** 

## PRICE SCORE CALCULATION METHODS

Deal Negotiation provides three calculation methods for price scoring using existing Commerce attributes. For each method, any numeric attribute may be selected for use as a variable in the calculation. The Margin-based calculation uses the current price margin and the List Price margin to determine the relative profitability. The List-Based calculation is derived from net and list price and can be used if cost data is not available in CPQ. The Simple Margin calculation divides the profit margin by an admin-defined "Basis" attribute.

## MARGIN-BASED CALCULATION METHOD

In the Margin-based calculation, the function changes based on the margin measured at List Price. This allows the slope of the lines to change for different products that may have different margin percentages and discount allowances. This calculation requires the following input attribute values: Unit Cost, Net Price, and List Price.

When **Enable Price Score** is selected for Transaction Line Integer-type attributes, administrators can select the Commerce attributes to be used for List Price, Net Price, and Unit Cost in the Margin Based Calculations.

Deal Negotiation		
Enable Price Score:		
Price Score Method:	Margin-Based Calculation 🔻	
List Price Attribute:	List Price	•
Net Price Attribute:	Item Price	•
Unit Cost Attribute:	Unit Cost	•

#### Margin Based Calculation Method

## **Margin-based Calculation Rules**

- When the Margin is zero the Price Score will be "1"
- When the Net Price is equal to the List Price the Price Score will be "9"

## LIST-BASED CALCULATION METHOD

The List-Based calculation divides the Net Price by the List Price to compute the Price Score. The advantage of this calculation is that it does not require a company to store costs or margins in CPQ Cloud.

When Enable Price Score is selected for Transaction Line Integer-type attributes, administrators can select the Commerce attributes to be used as List Price and Net Price in the List Based Calculations.

Deal Negotiation		
Enable Price Score:	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	
Price Score Method:	List-Based Calculation 🔹	
List Price Attribute:	List Price	•
Net Price Attribute:	Item Price	•

#### List Based Calculation Method

## SIMPLE MARGIN CALCULATION METHOD

The Simple Margin calculation subtracts the Unit Cost from the Net Price to calculate the profit margin. The profit margin is then divided by a "Basis" attribute to determine Price Score. The "Basis" attribute can be any currency attribute, for example: Unit Cost, List Price, or Net Price.

When Enable Price Score is selected for Transaction Line Integer-type attributes, administrators can select the existing Commerce attributes to be used for Net Price, Unit Cost, and Basis Attributes in Simple Margin Calculations.

Deal Negotiation		
Enable Price Score:	✓	
Price Score Method:	Simple Margin Calculation <b>▼</b>	
Net Price Attribute:	Item Price	•
Unit Cost Attribute:	Unit Cost	•
Basis Attribute	List Price	•

Simple Margin Calculation Method

## LAST PRICE PAID METRIC

Sales users need to know what price precedents have been established with a customer in order to intelligently define the appropriate prices for a product. Purchasing agents entering a negotiation typically have access to all of the previous transactions with a vendor and competitors. In contrast, Sales users typically have no information about the prior sales or prices. In 2017 R1, CPQ Cloud delivers the Last Price Paid metric to provide historical price information.

0				Product	List Price	Quantity	Discount	Discount Type	Net Price	Net Amount	Last Price	Margin %	Product Segment
0	æ	0	٢	Malware Pro	\$350.00	20	\$323.50	Price Overide 🔻	\$323.50	\$6,470.00	\$350.00	43.80	Software

#### Last Price Paid Metric

When Deal Negotiation is enabled for currency-type Commerce attributes, the Last Price Paid option can be selected. Administrators can set the following options to specify Last Price Paid criteria: Customer Attribute, Net Price Attribute, Date Attribute, and Duration.

Deal Negotiation	
Enable Deal Negotiation:	Last Price Paid 🔻
Customer Attribute:	Customer Id 🔹
Net Price Attribute:	Net Price 🔻
Date Attribute:	System Last Modified Date 🔹
Duration:	Last 30 days 🔻

Last Price Paid Attribute

## DEAL COMPARISON ANALYTIC

The Deal Comparison Analytic is a graph that displays data points as a comparison set in a scatterplot chart. In 2017 R1, CPQ provides a user interface that allows administrators to define analytics by selecting from business-friendly options. Deal Comparison scatterplot analytics can be defined to display the historical relationship between any two numeric Commerce attributes (currency, float, or integer). Once defined, Deal Comparison Analytics can be displayed in Commerce Transaction and Transaction Line UIs by associating the analytic with an HTML Commerce attribute. Deal Comparison Analytics can then be exposed to users by adding this HTML attribute to Desktop and Mobile UIs just like any other commerce attribute.

For Transaction Deal Comparison scatterplots, each historical Transaction is shown as a data point. The following image shows a scatterplot of Total Discount Percentage as a function of Total List Revenue. All Transactions last modified within a specified time range are queried to acquire the historical data points displayed. A commerce Transaction won/lost status is used to determine won and lost deals. A curved blue line represents the best fit historical relationship of the variables shown on the X and Y axis. Hash lines indicate the Total Discount Percentage and Total List Revenue values for the current Transaction.

This example Deal Comparison Scatterplot Analytic depicts a relationship of increasing willingness to buy by the customer when the transaction discount is increased, and shows the exact position of the current deal pricing relative to this historical pattern.



List Price vs Discount Scatterplot

Information for each historical Transaction is provided when the customer hovers over a scatterplot data point. The blue data point represents the average historical value for Total Discount Percentage for Transactions with the same Total List Revenue value as the current Transaction.



## **Historical Average Hover**

In the following image, Total List Price and Total Discount Percentage are shown for a "Won" data point. List Price and Discount information will also be displayed when hovering over a "Lost" data point.



#### Won Deal Hover

Administrators navigate to a Commerce Process and select Analytics Manager to define analytic graphs. From this page, administrators can define the following parameters:

- **Properties**: This section is used to set Name, Variable Name, Description, and Document. The "Document" identifies the level, e.g. Transaction or Transaction Line.
- **Chart Settings**: This section is used to set properties for the chart: Title, X-Axis, Y-Axis, Group By, and Curve Fit Group Value.
- **Filters**: The following items are used to limit the records queried and displayed in the analytic: Date Filter, Duration, Advanced Filters, and Maximum Number of Records.
  - Advanced Filters allow administrators to limit the results to be displayed in the scatterplot based upon the current transaction value of one or more attributes specified as a 'Source & Target Attribute'. For example, a line level scatterplot will display data points for only the current part if the 'Part Number' attribute is selected.
  - The default value for Maximum Number of Records is "200", if a value is not specified a maximum of "1200" records will be used.

*Name	Discount vs List
*∨ariable Name	discount//sNetRevenue
Description	Discount vs List Price
*Document	Transaction
Chart Settings	
Title	Discount vs List Price
*X-Axis	Total (List)
*Y-Axis	Total Discount (%)
Group By	Deal Status 🔹
Curve Fit Group Value	Won <b>T</b>
Filters	
Date Filter	System Last Modified Date V
Duration	Last 6 months 🔻
Advanced Filters	
# Source & Target Attribute	
Add Row	
Maximum Number Of Records	1200

The following image displays the Analytics Definition Editor for a Transaction scatterplot.

Analytics Definition Editor

Deal Comparison Scatterplots can also be defined for Commerce Transaction Lines in order to display the relationships between any numeric line attributes, including those for prices, discounts, and quantities. These scatterplots filter data based upon the line's part number, to compare the current transaction line's pricing to that of other won and lost sales for the same part.

## STEPS TO ENABLE

For instructions on how to implement 2017 R1 Deal Negotiation, refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help.

## **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help for additional information.

## ENTERPRISE PLATFORM

Upgrade the functionality of CPQ Cloud's open and flexible platform to create value and drive results using the following CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 features.

- BOM Mapping Enhancements
- Package Lifecycle Management
- Migration Center Enhancements
- Performance Management
- DataCube Enhancements
- Data Column Enhancements

## **BOM MAPPING ENHANCEMENTS**

BOM Mapping Rules provide the ability to map multi-level Bills of Material to CPQ Cloud configuration variables and values and send a complex BOM from CPQ Cloud configuration to Commerce and downstream Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems. As part of continuous improvements to BOM Mapping, CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 allows customers to bundle configurations across product families, product lines, and models.

The following enhancements are available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1:

- Display BOM Mapping Rule items in configuration
- Define any child item in the BOM hierarchy as a model
- Configure a BOM with models as children of other models
- Validate models in the BOM item definition

## DISPLAY BOM MAPPING RULE ITEMS IN CONFIGURATION

CPQ Cloud 2016 R1 provided administrators with the ability to view BOM Mapping Rule items in Commerce line items. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, administrators can also view BOM Mapping Rule items, including child sales items, in configuration. This enhancement allows administrators to view the items that will be included in a Transaction. The list of BOM Mapping Rule items that display in configuration corresponds to the line items created in a Transaction using BOM Mapping Rules. When users save configuration updates, they invoke BOM Mapping Rules. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, a **Disable BOM-Mapping Rules During Updates** setting is available on the **Configuration Settings** page.

Options - BOM Mapping	
Disable BOM-Mapping Rules During Updates	⊖Yes ●No

## **Disable BOM-Mapping Rules During Updates Setting**

- When administrators select the Yes option, BOM Mapping Rule items do not display in configuration. The functionality remains the same as in prior releases. When users save a BOM Mapping Rule to a Transaction, they can view the BOM Mapping Rule items in Commerce line items.
- When administrators select the **No** option, BOM Mapping Rule items and the associated part information will display in a **Bill of Materials** panel in configuration.

## UNDERSTANDING THE BILL OF MATERIALS PANEL

When users save a BOM Mapping Rule to a Transaction, they can view the associated BOM Mapping Rule items in a **Bill of Materials** tab in configuration. For a better understanding of the **Bill of Materials** panel, consider the following:

- All BOM items display as Mandatory items.
- The Bill of Materials panel displays all of the columns from the Templates for the Recommended Items page (Admin > Style and Templates > Page Templates). Administrators can hide unwanted fields from this page; however, the changes will also affect the Recommended Parts panel and the Mandatory Parts panel.
- The **Bill of Materials** panel displays the unit price and assumes a root quantity of 1. Administrators can set up a Quantity Mapping Rule or a default quantity that is not 1. An exploded quantity and price still displays, assuming the root model's quantity is 1.
- A model's description populates both the Comment and Description columns in the **Bill of Materials** panel.
- When administrators add a model to a BOM, the model's label displays in the **Bill of Materials** panel. For non-base language users, the translations defined for the model display to the user.
- When administrators add a child model to a BOM, its rules do not run. Only the rules present on the model being configured run.
- A model's price is calculated by its base price. While Price Books do not affect a model's price, the price of a BOM part uses the Price Books' price.

# **NOTE:** CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 supports the display of BOM Mapping Rule items in configuration for both the desktop and mobile layouts.

	2.59	odate	Start Over Create Que	Add to Ca	irt (Quotes)	Add to Favorites Test	FullAccess: FullAccess	Create Oracle	Quote to Ord
								Model Co	Dinfiguration Pipeline View
hanl	s for choosing ZS	<u>ss</u> i							
Befor many	e we get started o lines you'll need,	onfig as we	uring your package all as if you'd like to	e, we need a o include the	little inf	ormation about what and the total numl	at you're looking for. L per of connections.	et us kno	w how
nclude L	and Lines?		V		Num	ber Of Internet Connections			
lumber	of Land Lines		2		Inclu	ide Internet?			
Pric	e								\$4,382.5
▼ Bill (	of Materials					F	rice Book: Base Price		
Select	Part Number	\$	Comment	\$	Price \$	Extended Description 1 \$	Description	\$	Quantity \$
$\checkmark$	Internet		A global computer network pro information and communicatio consisting of interconnected ne standardized communication p	oviding a variety of n facilities, etworks using protocols.	\$3.00		A global computer network providin information and communication faci consisting of interconnected networ standardized communication protoc	g a variety of lities, ks using ols.	1
$\checkmark$	Installation Fee				\$350.00	View			
$\checkmark$	Activation Fee				\$3.96	View			
	Internet Administration Fee				\$4.87	View			
$\checkmark$							A conventional telecommunications		
✓ ✓	Land Lines		A conventional telecommunica cable laid across land, typically buried underground.	ations connection by y either on poles or	Not Defined		cable laid across land, typically eith buried underground.	er on poles or	:
<ul> <li>Image: Second sec</li></ul>	Land Lines Service Establishment Charge	9	A conventional telecommunica cable laid across land, typically buried underground.	ations connection by y either on poles or	Not Defined \$1.27	View	cable laid across land, typically eith buried underground.	er on poles or	:

## BOM Mapping Rule Items in Bill of Materials Panel – Desktop Layout

otal Configured	1 Price of Model			\$0.00
irand Total	M .			\$11,297.9
⊿ Bill of N	//aterials			
Part Number	Comment	Price	Description	Quantity
Internet	A global computer network providing a variety of information and communication facilities, consisting of interconnected networks using standardized communication protocols.	\$3.00	A global computer network providing a variety of information and communication facilities, consisting of interconnected networks using standardized communication protocols.	9
Installation Fee		\$350.00		9
Activation Fee		\$3.96		9
Internet Administration		\$4.87		9

BOM Mapping Rule Items in Bill of Materials Panel – Mobile Layout

## DEFINE ANY CHILD ITEM IN THE BOM HIERARCHY AS A MODEL

CPQ Cloud 2016 R1 introduced the ability to add any CPQ Cloud part as a child item in the BOM hierarchy. CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 extends this capability by supporting models as child items in the BOM hierarchy. Administrators can accomplish this using either the **BOM Item Definition** table or the "savebom" BML function.

**NOTE:** To add a child model to a BOM using a BOM Mapping Rule, administrators must add the child model to the **BOM Item Mapping** table. If adding a child model to a BOM using the "savebom" BML function, this step is not necessary.

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, the **PartNumber** column in the **BOM Item Definition** table can contain either the part number of a BOM item or the path to a model in the BOM hierarchy. As shown in the following figure, the format for defining the path to a model is as follows:

	Da	ta	Schema					
Filter:	Pag	e Ler	ngth: 50 🗸					✔ Deploy 🔚 Save
🕒 Add 🔹 👆 File 🔹 🔎 Search	#	8	VariableName (Key)	SequenceNum	ItemId	Name	ItemType	PartNumber
🕨 📴 [Default]	51	8	errorBOMAttributeM	1	errorBOMAttribute	errorBOMAttribu	Standard Item	errorBOMAttributeMapping
ABO Tables	52	8	missingData	0			Standard Item	
Access Restricted Folder	53	8	rootSysBOM	1	part1	So close no mat	Model Item	part1
E BMQL	54	8	Parent Sub Model 1	2	part2	Couldn't be muc	Model Item	testbed:recommendedItems:standard
Oracle BomAttr Tr 12/13/2016 9:40 AM	55	8	Little Baby Part	3	part2 really	From the heart	Model Item	part3
Oracle_BomAttrDef 12/13/2016 9:39 AM	56	8	Parent Model 1	2	part2	Forever trusting	Model Item	testbed:receommendedItems:standard
IIII Oracle_BomAttrMap 02/09/2017 8:06 AM	57	8	ArrayBuddies	1	id	And nothing els	Model Item	part4
III Oracle_BomItemDef 02/22/2017 6:13 AM	58		package	1	Package	Umbrella Corpor	Model Item	package
III Oracle_BomItemMap 02/22/2017 6:29 AM	59	ā	ironPhone	2	Iron	So it's come to this	Model Item	phones:allPhones:oldl andl ine
Configuration	60	ĕ	ironPlan	3	IronPlan	Kilobytel	Model Item	servicePlans:plans:a15Kb
🕨 📴 Data Tables		8	ironPrize	2	IronPrize	All that glitters is	Model Item	giveAways:bundles:coffeeGrounds
<ul> <li>Earnula Management</li> <li>Earnula SOAP</li> </ul>	62	8	silverPhone	2	Silver	Boom	Model Item	phones:allPhones:exploder

productFamilyVariableName:productLineVariableName:modelVariableName.

## PartNumber Column Showing Part Numbers of BOM Items and Paths to Models in the BOM Hierarchy

## NOTES:

- Entries in the **PartNumber** column that contain colons (:) represent a path to a model.
- For additional information about the **BOM Item Definition** table, the **BOM Item Mapping** table, or the **Save BOM** BML function, refer to the *CPQ Cloud BOM Mapping Implementation Guide*.

## CONFIGURE A BOM WITH MODELS AS CHILDREN OF OTHER MODELS

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, a BOM can have models as children of other models. Companies can use this enhancement to offer packaged bundles containing models from separate product families. As in prior releases, the **BOM Item Tree Administration** page displays the expanded hierarchy and BOM definition information for a root BOM item, child items, and grandchild items. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, the **BOM Item Tree Administration** page also displays root models and other models as child items. Each model can have its own individual parts and models.

BO	BOM Item Tree Administration BOM Root Item:smallBiz									
Orde	r Variable Name	Name Part Number	Item	ID Item Type	Sales Item M	anufacturing Item C	ptional Effective From	Effective To		
1	<u>smallBiz</u>	Name ZS&S Small Busines	s Package Id	Model Item	Y N	N	l			
2	<u>Internet</u>	Name services:business:int	ernet Id	Model Item	Y N	N	l i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			
3	InstFee	Name Installation Fee	ld	Model Item	Y N	N				
4	ActFee	Name Activation Fee	ld	Model Item	Y N	N	l i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			
5	IntAdminFee	Name Internet Administratio	on Fee Id	Model Item	Y N	N				
6	LL	Name services:business:lar	ndLines Id	Model Item	Y N	N	l i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			
7	SEC	Name Service Establishmer	nt Charge Id	Model Item	Y N	N				
8	SCC	Name Service Connection C	Charge Id	Model Item	Y N	N	l			
9	PAF	Name Phone Administration	n Fee Id	Model Item	Y N	N				
10	Taxes	Name services:business:tax	kes Id	Model Item	Y N	N	l			

BOM Item Tree Administration Page Showing Models as Children of Other Models

**NOTE**: Child models are not reconfigurable. They behave as mandatory models added by Recommended Item Rules.

## VALIDATE MODELS IN THE BOM ITEM DEFINITION

When administrators define child items in the BOM hierarchy as models, CPQ Cloud validates the models in the BOM item definition. When validation errors occur, CPQ Cloud handles the errors in the same way as other BOM errors. The **BOM Item Tree Administration** page displays an error message at the top of the page. The items with an error are proceeded by the following error indicator: <sup>(S)</sup>.

	BOM Item Tree Administration BOM Roo Item:errorRootBO										BOM Root RootBOM
Ör	der 1	Variable Name	Name errorRootBOM	Part Number errorRootBOM	Item ID errorRootBOM	Item Type Standard Item	Sales Item Y	Manufacturing Item N	Optional N	Effective From	Effective To
8	0	<u>missingData</u>				Standard Item					
8	2	<u>invalidPart</u>	invalidPart	invalidPart	invalidPart	Standard Item	Y	Y	Ν		
8	2	<u>InvalidData</u>	part1	part1	2	Standard	INVALID	INVALID	INVALID	INVALID	INVALID
										Showi	ng All Results
											Cancel

**BOM Item Tree Administration** 

When administrators click the **Variable Name** associated with the error, the **BOM Item Administration** page opens. As shown in the following figure, an error message displays when the part number associated with a BOM item or the path to a model in the BOM hierarchy does not exist in CPQ Cloud.

BOM Item Admin	istration	BOM Root Item:errorRootBOM
BOM Item		
*Variable Name:	invalidPart	
*Name:	invalidPart	
*Part Number:	invalidPart 👩 The part number or model path of sales items must exist in CPQ.	
*Item ID:	invalidPart	
Sequence Number:	2	
Item Type:	Standard Item	
Default Quantity:	1.0	
Optional		
Sales Item	$\checkmark$	
Manufacturing Item	$\checkmark$	
Parent Variable Name:	errorRootBOM	
Effective From:		
Effective To:		

#### **BOM Item Administration**

**NOTE:** If the **BOM Item Administration** page shows that parts or models do not exist when an administrator has created them, deploy the **BOM Item Definition** table.

## STEPS TO ENABLE

The BOM Mapping enhancements are automatically available on 2017 R1 sites.

## TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Consider the following tips when using the 2017 R1 BOM Mapping enhancements:

- If the **Bill of Materials** panel does not appear, do the following:
  - Check the **Pipeline Viewer**. If the **BOM Instance** tab is not present, this indicates your BOM Mapping Rule is not running.
  - Check the **Configuration Settings** page. If **Disable BOM-Mapping Rules During Updates** is set to **Yes**, BOM Mapping Rule items will not appear in configuration.
- BOM Mapping Rule items are treated like mandatory parts and models. They always appear at the end of multi-node configuration flows.

#### **KEY RESOURCES**

For additional information, refer to the following resources:

- CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help
- CPQ Cloud BOM Mapping Implementation Guide

## PACKAGE LIFECYCLE MANAGEMENT

Administrators continue to have the ability to create packages of functionality to migrate across environments and can manage the lifecycle of these packages by deploying or updating a specific package. CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 further supports Package Lifecycle Management by providing a unique namespace to environments associated with entities, such as implementation partners, who want to create and protect their intellectual property. In addition, the content of packages is encrypted. As a result, users cannot edit the content of a package outside of a CPQ Cloud site and the import of packages across versions is not possible.

The following functionality is also available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1:

- Apply a namespace to a util library function
- Lock or unlock a util library function
- Create an override function

## APPLY A NAMESPACE TO A UTIL LIBRARY FUNCTION

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, administrators can open a Service Request (SR) on <u>My Oracle Support</u> to set a site namespace. When this occurs, the namespace displays in the **Namespace** field on the **Util BML Library Function Editor: Properties and Parameters** page. The use of a namespace prevents a naming conflict when migrating the util library function from a source to a target site.

🔍 Util BML Library Function Editor: Properties & Parameters								
Name:	Open with Override	#	Parameter Name	P	Parameter Type			
Namespace:	extdev06							
Variable Name:	openWithOverride							
Description:								
Return Type:	String	*						

#### Namespace Field

When migrated, namespaced util library functions appear in folders based on the namespace of the site from which they were migrated.

	Util I	BML Library Fu	Inctions List					
	Select	Script Name	Variable Name	Description	Override	Last Modified	Last Deployed	References
Folders		Open with Override	openWithOverride		Edit / Remove	03/13/2017 6:35 AM	03/13/2017 6:35 AM	List
🔲 util		Open w/o Override	openWoOverride		Create	03/13/2017 6:32 AM	03/13/2017 6:32 AM	List
extdev06		Locked	locked		Locked	03/13/2017 6:34 AM	03/13/2017 6:34 AM	List
	Se	lect All						
namespace11								

**Example of Namespaced Util Library Functions After Migration** 

## LOCK OR UNLOCK A UTIL LIBRARY FUNCTION

Administrators can use the **Util BML Library Function List** page to lock util library functions, which hides the implementation details (e.g. BML) from other administrators. This functionality provides customers with a way to protect their intellectual property when distributing packages to other sites.

To support this enhancement, the **Util BML Library Function List** page now includes both a **Lock** and an **Unlock** button. When a util library function is locked, a "Locked" status displays next to the function on the **Util BML Library Function List** page.

Locked Local 1	lockedLocal1		Locked	03/13/2017 03/13/2017 6:46 AM 6:46 AM List
Open Local 1	openLocal1			03/13/2017 03/13/2017 6:44 AM 6:46 AM List
Locked Local 2	lockedLocal2		Locked	03/13/2017 03/13/2017 6:46 AM 6:46 AM List
Open Local 2	openLocal2			03/13/2017 03/13/2017 6:45 AM 6:46 AM List
Select All				
	Translations Lock Unlock	Import Export	Add Del	lete Deploy Copy Back

## Util BML Library Function List Page with Lock and Unlock Buttons

**NOTE:** When administrators lock a util library function on their local site, they can continue to view and edit the util library function using the **Util BML Library Function Editor: Properties & Parameters** page.

## CREATE AN OVERRIDE FUNCTION

An override function is an editable copy of an original, unlocked, and namespaced util library function. Administrators can upload an unlocked and namespaced util library function and view the util library function in the **Util BML Library Function Editor: Properties and Parameters** page. While administrators can view the properties, parameters, and BML code, they cannot change an unlocked util library function without creating an override function.

**NOTE:** Administrators can migrate override functions along with their original namespaced util library functions. The migration flow maintains customizations made to the original namespaced util library functions.

For example: Assume a customer uploads a package to their test site and overrides a util library function from that package. If the customer then migrates the util library function to the production site, the overridden function is also migrated.

👋 Util BML Li	ibrary Functic	on Editor: I	Properties 8	k Parameters		
Name:	Open with Over	ride		# Parameter Name	Parameter Type	
Namespace:	extdev06					
Variable Name:	openWithOverr	ide				
Description:						
Return Type:	String		*			
📓 Function E	Editor					
Hide Tools   🔎	Θ					Editor Help
Attributes	🔆 Debugger					
# Attribute						^
				AA 🕢 🔊 (* 10 pt 🗸	3	
1 return	•••;					^
Position: L	n 1. Ch 1	Total	Ln 1. Ch 10			×
To edit this Funct	tion, please crea	te an Overrie	le Function.			
						Translations 🗲 Back

Unlocked and Namedspaced Util Library Function

To create an override function, navigate to the **Util BML Library Functions List** page and select the **Create** link next to a specific util library function.

	Util E	BML Library Fu	nctions List						
	Select	Script Name	Variable Name	Description	Override	Last Modified	Last Deploye	bt	References
Folders		Open with Override	openWithOverride		Edit / Remove	03/13/2017 6:35 AM	03/13/2017 6:3	5 AM	List
util util		Open w/o Override	openWoOverride		Create	03/13/2017 6:32 AM	03/13/2017 6:33	2 AM	List
extdev06		Locked	locked		Locked	03/13/2017 6:34 AM	03/13/2017 6:34	4 AM	List
	Sel	lect All							
namespace11									
						Translatio	ns Delete	Deploy	Back

Util BML Library Functions List Showing Create Link

The util library function then opens in the **Util BML Library Function Editor: Properties & Parameters** page. Administrators can use this page to create an override function by editing the original function.

**NOTE:** Administrators cannot import new attributes or library functions into an override function. They can, however, use the **Function Wizard** or test the BML in the **Debugger**. For example: Administrators can enter **Context Parameters** in the **Debugger** and view the returned text.

🔻 Util BML Li	brary Function	Editor: F	Properties &	Parameters			
Name:	Open w/o Override	e		# Parameter Name		Parameter Type	
Namespace:	extdev06						
Variable Name:	openWoOverride						
Description:							
Return Type:	String		¥				
Function E	ditor						
Hide Tools   🔎	Θ						Editor Help
Attributes	🄑 Function Wiza	ard 🛛 🌞 🛙	ebugger 🏼 🍃	Library Function(s)			
# Attribute							^
				👫 🕥 🤊 (🖻 🛙 10 pt			
1 return	"This code i	is visib	le and can	be overridden.";			^
Position: Lr	n 1, Ch 52	Total:	Ln 1, Ch 53				×
					Translations	Validate Apply	🖌 Update 🛛 🗲 Back

## **Override Function**

When the **Edit** and **Remove** links display on the **Util BML Library Functions List** page, this indicates an override function already exists. Administrators can return to the override function to make additional updates by selecting the **Edit** link or remove an override function by selecting the **Remove** link.

	Util B	ML Library Fu	nctions List					
	Select	Script Name	Variable Name	Description	Override	Last Modified	Last Deployed	References
Folders		Open with Override	openWithOverride		Edit / Remove	03/13/2017 6:35 AM	03/13/2017 6:35 AM	List
🔲 util		Open w/o Override	openWoOverride		Create	03/13/2017 6:32 AM	03/13/2017 6:32 AM	List
extdev06		Locked	locked		Locked	03/13/2017 6:34 AM	03/13/2017 6:34 AM	List
-	Sele	ect All						
namespace11								
						Translation	ns Delete Dep	loy Back

Util BML Library Function List with Link to Edit/Remove the Override Function

**NOTE:** To view the original function associated with an override function, select the link under the **Script Name** heading.

## STEPS TO ENABLE

To enable the Package Lifecycle Management feature, open a Service Request (SR) on <u>My Oracle</u> <u>Support</u>.

## NOTES:

- Oracle highly recommends that customers only enable the 2017 R1 Package Lifecycle Management functionality in a complex deployment structure or when developing content specifically for other environments. If customers only have a Test and Production site, Oracle does not recommend enabling the functionality.
- Partners who change an environment's namespace are responsible for managing all of their different namespaced util library functions. Migration treats each different namespaced util library function as a different util library function.

## TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Consider the following tips when using Package Lifecycle Management:

- Administrators can lock util library functions but not Commerce library functions.
- Administrators can only create an override function when the original util library function is both namespaced and unlocked.
- Migrating a locked util library function to a target site with an associated override function deletes the override function from the target site.
- Bulk downloads do not download namespaced util library functions.
- Attempts to bulk upload override functions associated with namespaced util library functions will fail.
- Bulk uploading functions that import namespaced util library functions will fail.

## **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help for additional information.

## **MIGRATION CENTER ENHANCEMENTS**

CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 introduces the use of natural keys in the Migration Center for Configuration, Commerce, Library Functions, and Document Engine. In 2017 R1, CPQ Cloud also delivers Cross Process Migration, which allows administrators to create a Migration Package on a source site and then migrate the package to a target site that contains a different Commerce process.

## **MIGRATION ICONS**

The following icons indicate the status of migration objects.

- 式 Cross Process Migration
- Differences exist between the target and source sites
- Item to be added to the target site from the source site
- Item exists on the target site, but does not exist on the source site
- The item on the target and source sites is the same
- 💢 The item is not supported for Cross Process Migration

## NATURAL KEYS

CPQ Cloud administrators have the ability to create packages of functionality to migrate across environments and can manage the full lifecycle of these packages by deploying or upgrading individual packages. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, the use of natural keys in Configuration, Commerce, Library Functions, and Document Engine supports this functionality.

Natural Keys match a migration object using the variable name instead of the hidden value. With natural keys, the Migration Center recognizes when the same attribute exists on the source and target sites. For example: Assume a customer creates an attribute in the production environment to resolve a "hotfix", creates the attribute in their Dev instance, and migrates the attribute. Natural keys recognize that these attributes are the same and updates the production attribute.

The Globally Unique Identifiers (GUIDs) for the high-level objects (i.e. data tables, catalog definitions, product definitions, etc.) in the Migration Center were replaced with a natural key that is the same on all CPQ Cloud sites. These natural keys are now used in the Migration Center to support the migration of packages between sites, the migration of logical objects between sites, and the migration of changes between CPQ Cloud environments.

**NOTE:** While the GUIDs for the high-level objects in the Migration Center were replaced with natural keys, most of the underlying objects still use GUIDs.

## **MIGRATE LOGICAL OBJECTS BETWEEN SITES**

When an arrow, a plus sign, or a minus sign displays in the Migration Center, this indicates that a difference exists between the logical objects on the source and target sites.

For example: The Util Functions shown in the following image are logical objects that exist on both the source and target sites. Since the natural keys for these functions are the same on both sites, the arrows indicate that the functions on the target site do not match the functions on the source site to which the administrator is connected. A modification was therefore made to the functions on the source or target site.



Migration Center Showing a Difference between Objects on Source and Target Sites

When an administrator clicks **Migrate** and successfully migrates the Util Functions from the source site to the target site, a green check box displays next to the migrated objects. The green check box indicates that the Util Functions are the same on both the source and target sites.



Migration Center Showing No Differences between Objects on Source and Target Sites

**NOTE:** Migrating packages between sites and migrating changes between CPQ Cloud environments are two additional scenarios supported by natural keys. While these scenarios work the same as in prior releases, the differences between objects on the source and target sites are reflected in the Migration Center in the same manner as the above migration scenario.

## **CROSS PROCESS MIGRATION**

Cross Process Migration removes the restriction of only importing data into a common process. This feature allows an administrator to perform a granular migration of data from a package into another process on the target site. The administrator importing the package on the target site identifies the target process for the migration.

The following Commerce elements can be migrated using a Cross Process Migration:

- Granular elements of a Commerce process
- Email Designer Templates
- Document Designer Templates
- Util Libraries, Product Definition, Catalog, Configuration, Data Tables, and File Manager are also permitted, as they are not part of a Commerce process.

This feature does NOT support the following functions:

- Cross Process Migration of Document Engine Documents
- Migration to a different Commerce process using "Import from Source" or "Connect to Destination" migration modes
- Simultaneous Cross Process Migration to multiple Commerce processes

**NOTE**: Packages can be migrated to multiple processes if installed one at a time.

 Complete replacement of an existing target Commerce process using Cross Process Migration

NOTE: Granular data elements from a Commerce process must be selected and migrated.

- Migration across Commerce processes where either the source or the target site contain more than one main document and one sub document
- Migration of non-granular Commerce objects across processes, For example: layouts and complex conditionals
- Granular objects from multiple Commerce processes combined into one Cross Process Migration package, this includes Document Designer documents from multiple processes.
- Creation of a new target site Commerce process during Cross Process Migration

**NOTE:** Migration of granular data into a pre-existing Commerce process on the target site is allowed.

An administrator performs the following steps to complete a Cross Process Migration:

- Upload a migration package to the target site
- Select a target Commerce process
- Select the source process to view granular differences
- Select applicable elements
- Initiate the migration

## **CROSS PROCESS MIGRATION OPTION**

If the migration package contains eligible Cross Process Migration elements, the administrator will be presented with an option to select a target Commerce process upon import. The following image shows the eligible target Commerce processes for the uploaded package.

Please select a package to	upload.	
CPQPackage_1.zip	owse	
Name:	CPQ Package	
Package Version:	1	
Site Version:	16.2.1	
Description:		
Release Date:		
Dependencies:	None	
hoose a target process for Cros	s Process Migration	Default Migration
2 1		Default Migration
5 1		
2.1		Quotes
		Quotes Formula
		Quotes Formula

#### **Cross Process Migration Target Process Selection**

When a target Commerce process is selected during Cross Process Migration:

- The selected granular elements are migrated to the chosen target process.
- A complete process migration cannot be performed because some elements are not eligible for Cross Process Migration.
- When "Default Migration" is selected, a standard package migration is performed.
- The standard migration interface appears when the migration package does NOT contain any Cross Process Migration elements.
- Target Commerce processes are NOT listed for processes with multiple main sub documents or new Commerce processes on the target site.

Non-Commerce process entities can also be migrated during Cross Process Migration. For example: Util Libraries, Product Definition, Catalog, Configuration, Data Tables, and File Manager elements.

## HIGH LEVEL AND LOW LEVEL DIFFERENCES

After selecting the target process, the Cross Process Migration will identify and display differences between the source and target processes. As shown in the following image:

- The Target Process is listed in the left View frame. The preceding icon and comment indicate a Cross Process Migration.
- The Source package is noted at the top right side of the Migration Preview frame.
- Granular Differences are listed in Migration Preview frame. For Example: The following image displays the new attribute for migration.
- When a Cross Process Migration is performed, checkboxes are displayed for available elements contained within the package. Migration actions are listed next to the migration elements.

View:	<mark>6<sup>0</sup> Migrate</mark>	Mi	gration Preview : Commerce > Oracle Q	uote to Ord	ler		Source: CP	Q Package 🤤 Cancel
📴 Util Library (0)			Details		Migration Action	🚽 Modifi	ed Date	Modified By
🛅 Product Definit	tion (0)		4 📫 Oracle Quote to Order		Overwritten			
🔚 Catalog (0)			4 📫 Document(s)		Overwritten			
🔚 Configuration (	(0)		4 📫 Transaction Line		Overwritten			
⊿ Commerce (1)	*		a 📫 Attribute(s)		Overwritten			
S CPQ Proces	s * (Cross Process Migration)		New Line Item Attribute		Inserted	04/21/2	2017 11:40 AM	
🔄 Document Eng	ine (0)							
📔 Email Designer	r (0)							
🛅 Document Des	igner (0)							
📴 Data Table (0)								
📔 File Manager (	0)							
📵 Logs 💈 Refresh	🔁 Logs 🗇 Refresh							

## **Cross Process Migration – Before Migration**

- Elements that cannot be migrated across processes are not shown.
- Document Designer and Email Designer templates can be migrated even when there are not any matching templates in the target Commerce process.

**NOTE:** Cross Process Migration may overwrite target Commerce process templates.

When a Cross Process Migration is performed:

- If a low-level granular view is not opened, all high and low level objects are migrated for the selected high-level objects.
- When a low-level granular view is opened and individual items are selected, only the selected granular objects are migrated along with any other selected high-level objects.
- A low-level granular view can be opened for non-Commerce process objects, but only highlevel objects can be selected.

## STEPS TO ENABLE

The Migration Center enhancements are automatically available on 2017 R1 sites.

## TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Consider the following tips when using the 2017 R1 Migration Center enhancements:

- The replacement of GUIDs with natural keys is a 2017 R1 database change. The natural keys are not visible from the Migration Center.
- When the same object is copied multiple times on the same site, new GUIDs are generated for the duplicated objects. i.e. If a migration package is migrated into a Commerce process on the same site, or the package is installed multiple times on any single site.
- Objects with natural keys will not cause the same issue since keyed objects will always be unique to their process.

## **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help for additional package migration information.

## PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENTS

CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 provides a collection of new enhancements to increase CPQ Cloud site stability and performance. To keep environments running during extremely high loads, CPQ Cloud may temporarily restrict new user sessions

The following enhancements are also available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1:

- Prevent need for environment restart under extreme load
- View new events in the event log
- Set a timeout period for an integration XSL or a middleware integration
- Execute an action when an integration XSL or middleware integration times out
- Use an optional timeout parameter for BML URL Access functions
- Prevent unnecessary line item looping
- Use INI property to override "Run Scripts Once for All Line Items"

## PREVENT NEED FOR ENVIRONMENT RESTART UNDER EXTREME LOAD

To keep environments running during extremely high loads, the CPQ Cloud site temporarily prevents users, integrations, and BML URL access functions from creating new sessions. During this restriction period, the timeout of idle sessions is reduced to ensure active users can complete their Transactions.

## ORACLE<sup>®</sup> CPQ Cloud

Notice:

Login unavailable due to site activity. Please try again later.

Contact us for questions or concerns:

- · Log a service request within My Oracle Support
- For assistance in creating a service request, please call 1.800.223.1711 (U.S.) or find your location in the list of international numbers.

#### Please note:

- · Only CPQ Cloud admins in your organization have access to create service requests.
- · Be sure to clear the cache if re-accessing this page by hitting 'Ctrl' + 'F5'.

We apologize for the inconvenience. Thank you for your patience. We value your patronage!

#### **Displays When CPQ Cloud Temporarily Restricts New User Sessions**

**NOTE:** When a site reaches its threshold, both service users and users already logged in can still access the site.

## VIEW NEW EVENTS IN THE EVENT LOG

In addition to the events logged in the event log in prior releases, CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 also logs an event when a site is low on resources and enters or exits "Overcrowded Mode".

Pe	Performance Logs						
N	Vex v 🕞						
4	<u> </u>			Overcrowded			
	Date	User	Object	Event Type	Action	Server	Browser
	04/27/2017 12:4	<none></none>	Service	Overcrowded	Algorithm Full GC Interval and Duration: true	-1	
	04/27/2017 12:4	<none></none>	Service	Overcrowded	Algorithm Full GC Throughput true	-1	
	04/27/2017 12:4	<none></none>	Service	Overcrowded	Algorithm Full GC Interval and Duration: false	-1	

#### **Performance Logs**

## SET A TIMEOUT PERIOD FOR AN INTEGRATION XSL OR A MIDDLEWARE INTEGRATION

Administrators can set a timeout period that defines how long an integration XSL (e.g. Integration Cloud Service, Oracle Sales Cloud, Salesforce, Oracle On Demand), or a middleware integration runs before timing out. By default, Oracle provides a timeout of 5 seconds for all integration calls.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Click **Admin** to go to the Admin Home page.
- 2. Click **Process Definition** in the **Commerce and Documents** section. The **Processes** page opens.
- 3. Identify the name of the Commerce process associated with the integration XSL or middleware integration for which you are setting a timeout period.
- 4. From the **Navigation** menu next to this Commerce process, select **Integrations**.

Proce	sses						
Select	Name	Navigation			Quick Links	Description	Last Deployed
	Quotes	Documents	<u>~</u> г	.ist	<u>Open</u>	Main QA process. Contains basic functionality, integration setups, and various feature testbeds.	03/13/2017 1:49 PM
	Formula	Documents	<b>~</b> L	.ist	<u>Open</u>	Secondary process dedicated to testing Formula Management.	02/02/2017 10:42 AM
	Test	Documents	~ L	.ist	<u>Open</u>	Clone to create your own test process	02/08/2017 11:21 AM
	Justin Test	Documents	ι	.ist	Open	Clone to create your own test process	03/07/2017 2:37 PM
	Oracle Quote to Order	Integrations	<u>۲</u> ۱	.ist	<u>Open</u>	The reference commerce process.	02/13/2017 9:37 AM

#### Processes Page with Integrations Selected from Navigation Menu

5. Click List.

The Integrations page opens.

6. Select the name of the integration for which you are setting the timeout period. The Edit Integration page opens. 7. In the Timeout field, enter a timeout for the integration. The timeout is defined in milliseconds.

Edit Integration			Process : (	Oracle Quote to Order
Integration Information				
*Name:	Export Quote			
*Variable Name:	exportQuote			
Description:		~		
		$\checkmark$		
Timeout:	10	*	Defined in milliseconds	

## Edit Integration Page with Timeout Field

## 8. Click Apply.

When the integration XSL or middleware integration reaches the timeout period, the integration times out on the site and fails. Administrators can choose whether actions continue when the timeout occurs.

## EXECUTE AN ACTION WHEN AN INTEGRATION XSL OR MIDDLEWARE INTEGRATION TIMES OUT

Administrators have the option of allowing an action to execute when an integration XSL or a middleware integration times out. When administrators select the **Execute Action If Associated Integrations Timeout** checkbox, the action continues regardless of any associated integration timeout. A warning message displays to the end user, and CPQ Cloud logs information about the integration that timed out.

**NOTE:** By default, the **Execute Action If Associated Integrations Timeout** checkbox is unselected. The action works as in prior releases and results in an integration failure. Use this setting if the integration is crucial to the action's success.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Click **Admin** to go to the Admin Home page.
- 2. Click **Process Definition** in the **Commerce and Documents** section. The **Processes** page opens.
- 3. From the **Navigation** drop-down menu next to the Commerce process associated with the integration XSL or middleware integration, select **Documents**.
- 4. Click List. The Document List page opens.

5. From the Navigation drop-down menu next to a main document, select Actions.



Select Actions from the Navigation Drop-Down Menu

6. Click List.

The **Action List** page opens.

- Select the link associated with the Action Name to execute when the integration XSL or middleware integration times out. The Admin Action page opens.
- 8. Select the Execute Action If Associated Integrations Timeout checkbox.

Admin Action	(cleanSave_t)	Document : Oracle Quote to Order > Transaction
General Modify Destination Integrati	on Document Views	
*Label:	Save	
*Variable Name: Email Notification Keyword	cleanSave_t	I possible values can be separated with a tilde (e.g.:
Approval Comment Mapping	Accept~Approve)	
	may have been edited in the UI) to the database	^
		~
Action Icon:	Browse	
Show Loading Dialog:	○ No ● Yes	
Action Timeout:	minutes	
Execute Action If Associated Integrations Timed	ut: 🗹	
Desktop Layout Path:	Save and Edit Deakter Lavout	
Sticky Action Bar	Save and Edit Desktop Layout	

#### Admin Action Page with Execute Action If Associated Integrations Timeout Checkbox

9. Select the **Integration** tab.
10. Select the integration to associate with the action.

Admin Action	(cleanSave_t)		Docume	ent : Oracle	Quote to Order > Tra	insaction
General Modify Destination	Integration Document Views					
Integration List:	Selected Integration: Apply Modify Functions Export Quote	00				
					Ва	ск то тор
	Tr	anslations	Apply	Update	Update and New	Back
ORACLE						

Select the Integration to Associate with the Action

11. Click Apply.

When the integration XSL or middleware integration times out, the **Modify** actions will execute.

## USE AN OPTIONAL TIMEOUT PARAMETER FOR BML URL ACCESS FUNCTIONS

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, the following URL Access functions contain a single, optional, timeout parameter defined in milliseconds.

- urldata
- urldatabyget
- urldatabypost
- urldatabypostasync
- urlmultipartbypost

**NOTE:** If the time-period specified in the parameter elapses without receiving a response from the queried server, there will be a timeout error in the BML. The BML returns data that allows the administrator to perform error handling in the event of a timeout.

### **BML URL ACCESS FUNCTION TIMEOUT**

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, the **BML URL Function Timeout** is located on the **General Site Options** page. In prior releases, the **BML URL Function Timeout** was a BM Context property. Defined in milliseconds, this timeout value serves as the default timeout threshold for any URL Access function making an external call when the timeout parameter is not used.

Options - General	
Options - General	
Show the Oracle Logo at the bottom of each page	● Yes ○ No
Occupy entire window when the site is inside a frame	⊖Yes ●No
Show Parent Parts on Part Detail Page	● Yes ○ No
Receive Monthly Usage Report	● Yes ○ No <u>Usage Reports</u>
Button Position on Pages with no Template	◯ Top ◯ Bottom
Button Alignment on Pages with no Template	◯ Left
Sticky Buttons on Configuration Page and Parts Search Results Page	● Yes ○ No
Accounts Browse Dialog Dimensions	800 Width 600 Height
Number of Page Tabs in a Row	15
Loading Dialog Image:	Browse Clear Preview Include Text: O Yes  No
Help popup window settings	600 Width 510 Height
Allow full access users from partner companies to modify groups	● Yes ○ No
Enable CRM OAuth	● Yes ○ No
Enable desktop selector links on mobile homepage	⊖Yes ●No
Enable BML print logging	⊖Yes ●No
Enable contract generation in Document Designer	⊖Yes ●No
BML URL Function Timeout	0

**BML URL Function Timeout on General Site Options Page** 

**NOTE:** If the timeout parameter for a given call contains an invalid value, the **BML URL Function Timeout** is used.

## **BML URL ACCESS FUNCTION CHANGES**

The URL Access functions contain an optional timeout parameter in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1. There is no legacy impact to customers currently using these functions. The timeout is in milliseconds and overrides the **BML URL Function Timeout**. In the event of a timeout, the output of each of the URL Access Functions is as follows:

- Urldatabypost: If the optional "returnErrorResponse" parameter is set to true, an error message is returned.
- Urldata: An error message is returned with a status code.
- Urldatabyget: An error message is returned.
- Urldatabypostasync: If the optional "returnErrorResponse" parameter is set to true, an error message is returned.
- Urlmultipartbypost: An error message is returned.

Name	Prior Release Syntax	2017 R1 Syntax
Urldatabypost	<pre>urldatabypost(URL, url_param, default_value), [Dictionary headers, [Boolean returnErrorResponse]])</pre>	String urldatabypost(String url, String parameters, String defaultValue, [Integer timeout]]])
Urldata	<pre>urldata(String url, String httpMethod, [Dictionary headers, [String parameters]])</pre>	Dictionary urldata(String url, String httpMethod, [Dictionary headers, [String parameters,[Integer timeout]]])
Urldatabyget	urldatabyget(URL, url_param, default_value)	String urldatabyget(String url, String parameters, String defaultValue,[Integer timeout])
Urldatabypostasync	urldatabypostasync((String url, String parameters, String defaultValue, String callbackActionVarName, [Dictionary headers, [Boolean returnErrorResponse]])	String urldatabypostasync(String url, String parameters, String defaultValue, String callbackActionVarName, [Dictionary headers, [Boolean returnErrorResponse,[Integer timeout]]])
Urlmultipartbypost	Dictionary headers, [Dictionary attachments]])	Dictionary urlmultipartbypost(String url, String payload, [Dictionary headers, [Dictionary attachments,[Integer timeout]]])

# PREVENT UNNECESSARY LINE ITEM LOOPING

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, users cannot loop over line items when they use an Advanced function in new sub document attribute defaults. Previously created default Advanced functions remain unchanged. If administrators uncheck the sub document attributes in the **Variable Name for (Line Item)** tab, the associated checkboxes are removed on **Save**.

Similarly, administrators cannot create line item loops in sub document Commerce rules. This enhancement applies to Commerce rules that have Advanced conditions or Advanced actions. Existing Advanced Commerce rule functions will not change. If administrators uncheck the sub document attributes associated with a sub document Commerce rule using the **Variable Name for (Line Item)** tab, the associated checkboxes are removed on **Save**.

Use the following steps as a reference for accessing the Variable Name for (Line Item) tab:

- 1. Click **Admin** to go to the Admin Home page.
- 2. Click **Process Definition** in the **Commerce and Documents** section. The **Processes** page opens.
- 3. In the **Navigation** drop-down menu, **Documents** displays by default for all of the processes.
- 4. Click **List** next to the process for which you are creating a new Advanced function. The **Document List** page opens.
- 5. In the Navigation drop-down menu, Attributes displays by default for all of the documents.
- Click List next to a sub document. The Attribute List page opens.
- Select an attribute.
   The Attribute Editor opens.
- 8. Select the **Default** tab.
- 9. Select the **Function** option.
- 10. Click **Define Function**.

The Select Attributes dialog opens and contains a Variable Name for (Line Item) tab.

**NOTE**: If administrators advance to the BML Editor without unchecking the sub document attributes in the **Variable Name for (Line Item)** tab, a warning message will display.

## USE INI PROPERTY TO OVERRIDE "RUN SCRIPTS ONCE FOR ALL LINE ITEMS"

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, a new INI property will override the "Run Scripts Once for all Line Items" setting.

- When the property is set to "true", the related option is no longer visible on the sub document properties page.
- The property is by default set to "true" for new customers.
- The property is by default set to "true" for existing customers who update to 2017 R1.

**NOTE**: The INI property resolves performance issues related to unnecessary looping in the "Run Scripts Once for all Line Items" setting.

### STEPS TO ENABLE

The Performance Management features are automatically available on 2017 R1 sites.

### TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Consider the following tips when using the 2017 R1 Performance Management features:

- During the migration process, target sites cannot connect to source sites that are in "Overcrowded Mode".
- The General Site Options page (Admin > General > General Site Options) includes a Notification Emails option that allows administrators to specify the email addresses to which notification emails are sent when a site enters or exits "Overcrowded Mode".
- When the site is in "Overcrowded Mode", the following occurs:
  - Inbound REST and SOAP calls are blocked. The exception is when the call is a SOAP V1 call that is using a session generated prior to the site entering "Overcrowded Mode".
  - $\circ$   $\;$  Responses from eSignature vendors will fail. The site receives the responses via REST.
  - Proxy log in and logout will not work as both of these operations generate sessions.
  - Quick registration accounts cannot be created.

### **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help for additional information.

# DATACUBE ENHANCEMENTS

CPQ Cloud customers using third party reporting or warehousing tools use DataCubes to export data from CPQ Cloud into their reporting or warehousing tools. The following DataCube enhancements are available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1.

- Extract all content from a Commerce attribute as a CLOB
- Filter the Transactions to include in a DataCube report
- Schedule more than one DataCube report
- Provide more control over the DataCube report output location

## EXTRACT ALL CONTENT FROM A COMMERCE ATTRIBUTE AS A CLOB

CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 includes a Maximum Character Large Object (CLOB) .INI property that limits the number of DataCube columns that administrators can enable for a CLOB per Commerce process. In prior releases, DataCube columns were limited to 4,000 characters. CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 extends this capability by allowing DataCube columns to exceed 4,000 characters.

Administrators can use a CLOB attribute in the mapping XML file to enable or disable CLOB on a per column basis. To enable CLOB for a column, set the CLOB attribute to "true". To disable CLOB for a column, set the attribute to "false". Administrators can also omit the CLOB XML attribute. In doing so, the column is not made into a CLOB.



### Enable or Disable CLOB Using CLOB Attribute

## STORE CLOB DATA IN A DATA FILE

In 2017 R1, CPQ Cloud creates a data file per CLOB column. The data file contains all data entries for a column, delimited by "<ER>". As shown in the following figure, the data file name follows the following format: \_<attribute name>.dat.

[root@slc09mdj reporting]# 1	3	
BM_CM_ATTRIBUTE_HISTORY.ctl	bm_rt_18319026.ctl	bm_rt_4356178.dat
BM_CM_ATTRIBUTE_HISTORY.dat	bm_rt_18319026.dat	bm_rt_4356179.ctl
bm_rt_15185906.ctl	bm_rt_18351533.ctl	bm rt 4356179.dat
bm_rt_15185906.dat	bm_rt_18351533.dat	composite.dat
bm_rt_15185966.ctl	bm_rt_18351539.ctl	drops.sql
bm_rt_15185966.dat	bm_rt_18351539.dat	mappings.xml
bm_rt_18318966.ctl	bm_rt_4356178_bm_4356340.dat	reports.bat
bm_rt_18318966.dat	bm_rt_4356178.ctl	tables.sql
[root@s]c09mdi reporting]#		

Sample Showing Data File Names for Each CLOB Column

**NOTE:** The CLOB files can get very large. As a result, compression time, transfer speed, and the amount of file system space needed on the customer SFTP site are all affected.

## FILTER THE TRANSACTIONS TO INCLUDE IN A DATACUBE REPORT

Administrators can place a filter on the mapping XML file for a process data column, which can have no filter, one filter, or multiple filters. Each filter contains the attributes shown in the following table.

Filter Attribute	Description
filter type	The filter type can be set to either "include" or "exclude"
attribute var name	The name of a data column
operation	The supported filter operations are: equal, less, lessEqual, greater, greaterEqual, contains
value	The value must be literal In the below example, all Transactions with "_ship_To_country" set to "USA" and "_bill_to_company_name" set to "Oracle" are included in the DataCube report.

An example of a mapping XML file with filter attributes:

```
<process var_name="oraclecpqo">

<filter type="include" var_name="_ship_To_t_country" operation="equal" value="USA"/>

<filter type="include" var_name="_bill_to_company_name" operation="equal" value="Oracle"/>

<document var_name="transaction" db_name="bm_rt_18351533">

<attribute var_name="transaction" db_name="bm_rt_18351545" clob="false"/>

<attribute var_name="_document_number" db_name="bm_18351545" clob="false"/>

<attribute var_name="_price_book_var_name" db_name="bm_18351551" clob="false"/>

<attribute var_name="createdBy_t" db_name="bm_18351629" clob="false"/>
```

**Mapping XML File with Filter Attributes** 

## PROVIDE MORE CONTROL OVER THE DATACUBE REPORT EXPORT LOCATION

The **Integration Center** contains a **DataCube** integration type, which allows administrators to control their own SFTP and database credentials instead of opening Service Requests (SRs) on <u>My Oracle</u> <u>Support</u>. DataCube output files are sent to a remote server using the following information entered in the **Integration Center** when configuring a DataCube integration.

## <u>SFTP</u>

- Server: The name of the SSH server to which DataCube reports are sent.
- Username: The login name to use when connecting to the SSH server.
- **Password:** The login password to use when connecting to the SSH server.
- **Remote Directory:** The directory under which all DataCube reports are sent. A blank value will default to the user's login directory.
- **Port:** The port number to use when connecting to the SSH server. A blank value will use the SSH default port 22.

### **Database**

- **Server:** The database server that the DataCube report's SQL will run on.
- Username: The login name to use in the DataCube report's SQL.
- Password: The login password to use in the DataCube report's SQL.

Integration Center		Back	CREATE INTEGRATION	Save
eSignature DocuSign	Type DataCube Integration			^
Integration Cloud Service	SFTP			
Remote Approval	*Server			
DataCube Integration	*Username			
DataCube	"Password			
	Remote Directory			
	"Public Key Browse cpq-029.key			
	Port			
	Verify Connection Test			
	Database			
	*Server			
	"Username			
	"Password			
	DataCube Admin Page			~

Integration Center Showing DataCube Integration

## SEND DATACUBE OUTPUT FILES TO REMOTE SERVER

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, the mapping XML file contains a new "export\_subpath" attribute under the reporting root directory. This attribute allows administrators to name the folder where DataCube reports are stored. As shown in the below example, the folder is a sub directory of the "reporting\_root" folder. The folder also specifies the sub directory that a reporting system sends a report during export.

For example: Assume an administrator creates a DataCube integration in the **Integration Center**, sets the "Remote Directory" to '/my/reports', and uses the mapping XML file for a particular report to set export\_subpath = "NorthAmerica". After generating the report, it is zipped and sent to a remote server in the /my/reports/NorthAmerica/ directory.

```
For Example: <reporting_root>/NorthAmerica
<mapping_export_subpath="NorthAmerica">
</moretailsubpath="NorthAmerica">
</process var_name="oraclecpqo">
</document var_name="transaction" db_name="bm_rt_18351533">
</document var_name="transaction" db_name="bm_18351545" clob="false"/>
</attribute var_name="_price_book_var_name" db_name="bm_18351551" clob="false"/>
</attribute var_name="_price_book_var_name" db_name="bm_18351551" clob="false"/>
</attribute var_name="clobest">
</attribute var_name="clobest"/>
</attribute var
```

### Export Location for DataCube Reports

**NOTE:** When an administrator specifies an invalid folder name, a warning appears in the error log and DataCube reports are stored in the <reporting\_root> folder.

## SCHEDULE MORE THAN ONE DATACUBE REPORT

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, administrators can schedule multiple DataCube reports. Each report can have its own mapping XML file and its own scheduled time, reporting period, export location, CLOB attributes, and defined filter. Filtering Transaction data from a DataCube allows administrators to schedule multiple DataCube reports with each report containing different data.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Click **Admin** to go to the Admin Home page.
- 2. Click **Process Definition** in the **Commerce and Documents** section. The **Processes** page opens.

Proce	sses					
Select	Name	Navigation		Quick Links	Description	Last Deployed
	Quotes	Documents N	List	<u>Open</u>	Main QA process. Contains basic functionality, integration setups, and various feature testbeds.	03/10/2017 4:56 AM
	<u>Formula</u>	Documents	List	<u>Open</u>	Secondary process dedicated to testing Formula Management.	03/08/2017 3:24 PM
	Test	Documents	List	<u>Open</u>	Clone to create your own test process	03/15/2017 9:12 AM
	Oracle Quote to Order	Documents	List	Open	The reference commerce process.	03/08/2017 3:23 PM
	DataCube Process	Documents	List	<u>Open</u>	Clone to create your own test process	03/22/2017 1:30 PM
						Back to Top
				Transla	tions DataCube Report	ing Add Back

#### Processes Page with DataCube Reporting Button

**NOTE:** When administrators enable DataCube export, a **DataCube Reporting** button displays on the **Processes** page. In prior releases, the name of this button was **Reporting**.

3. Click **DataCube Reporting** to open the **DataCube Reporting Setup** page.

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, the system time displays in the upper right of the page. The time zone displays in the upper left of the page. A **Recurrence Interval** field also displays on the **DataCube Reporting Setup** page. Use this field to specify the number of days between each report generation cycle.

DataC All times s	tube Reporting Setu hown in the 'Pacific Daylight Time'	up ' time zone.		6:44 Ah
Select	Name	Status	Start Time	Summary Log
۲	USA	Idle	10:11 AM	Loas
0	Everyday	Idle	11:46 AM	Logs
0	demo	Idle	12:13 PM	Loas
0	New Report			
Edit Repo	rt			
Name:		USA		
Generate	Reports At:	10:11 AM		(Ex. 12:00 AM) Time should be given in the 'Pacific Daylight Time' time zone
Recurren	ce Interval:	1		Number of days between runs of the report
Number of	of Days of Data to Export:	-1		Set to <1 to report on all data. (Warning: reporting on a large amount of data can reduce overall site performance)
Upload N	lapping File:		Browse	Display Current Mapping File
				Create A New Mapping File
				Back to Top
				Delete Suspend Apply Refresh Back

#### DataCube Reporting Setup

- 4. Select the **Logs** link next to a specific report to open the **DataCube Reporting Logs** window, which summarizes the generation and export of the report over the past seven days.
  - In the **Description** column, "Commerce Reporting" indicates report generation and "DataCube Export" indicates the export of the report.
  - Each log entry contains a **Status**: Running, Completed, or Failed.

• A short message details the start time, end time, and duration of completed tasks. For failed tasks, the main cause for failure displays. For additional details, administrators can refer to the error logs (bm.log).

				- • ×
ataCube Repor	ting Logs			-
Description	Date	Status	Message	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 10:11 AM	Failed	Error while generating reports_NOT_FOUND	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 10:06 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 12:06 - Ended: 2017/04/04 12:06 (1s)	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 10:06 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 12:06 - Ended: 2017/04/04 12:06 (7s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 10:02 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 10:02 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 12:02 - Ended: 2017/04/04 12:02 (7s)	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 9:55 AM	Failed	Error while generating reports_NOT_FOUND	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 9:45 AM	Failed	Error while generating reports_NOT_FOUND	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 9:35 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 9:35 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 11:35 - Ended: 2017/04/04 11:35 (6s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 9:28 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 9:28 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 11:28 - Ended: 2017/04/04 11:28 (7s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 9:20 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 9:20 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 11:20 - Ended: 2017/04/04 11:20 (7s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 9:11 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 9:11 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 11:11 - Ended: 2017/04/04 11:11 (7s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 9:07 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 9:07 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 11:07 - Ended: 2017/04/04 11:07 (7s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 9:00 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 9:00 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 11:00 - Ended: 2017/04/04 11:00 (7s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 8:55 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 8:55 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 10:55 - Ended: 2017/04/04 10:55 (6s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 8:53 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 8:51 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 10:51 - Ended: 2017/04/04 10:53 (122s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 7:57 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 7:57 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 09:57 - Ended: 2017/04/04 09:57 (7s)	
DataCube Export	04/04/2017 7:53 AM	Failed	Failed to connect to ssh host	
Commerce Reporting	04/04/2017 7:53 AM	Completed	Started: 2017/04/04 09:53 - Ended: 2017/04/04 09:53 (13s)	

DataCube Reporting Logs

#### **STEPS TO ENABLE**

The DataCube enhancements are automatically available to customers who already have DataCube reporting.

### TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Consider the following tips when using the 2017 R1 DataCube enhancements:

- Oracle recommends specifying a different "export\_subpath" for each scheduled report.
  - If multiple reports have the same "export\_subpath" value, there is no guarantee a generated report will work properly or contain the desired data. Since some of files will use the same file name, multiple reports with the same directory will overwrite each other.
  - If multiple reports run in the same day with the same path, the reports will overwrite each other on the remote server. This is because the name of the zip file is the same for all reports that run in a given day (<host company name>\_reports\_data-<date in MMddyyyy form>.zip).
  - Previous versions of DataCube reporting named the compressed report file using the HOSTNAME as the first part of the file name. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, the compressed report file uses the Host Company Name as the first part of the file name.
- Performing a "contains" filter operation may not always work. The data column contains the first 100 characters of what may be a larger value. If the searched content exists in the first 100 characters, the "contains" operation works. Otherwise, the "contains" filter operation may not work as expected.
- Use caution when naming data tables. CLOB data files are a concatenation of the table name and column name.

Table Definition 1:

<document db\_name="table" ....> and contains CLOB column <attribute db\_name="abc" clob="true"...>. This generates a data file for the table named "table.dat" and a CLOB column named "table\_abc.dat".

## Table Definition 2:

<document db\_name="table\_abc"...>. The table's data file name will conflict with the above CLOB data file. As a result, one data file will overwrite the other.

• In most cases, the mapping XML file ignores invalid information, and the invalid information does not cause a report to fail. By setting the logging level for DataCubes to WARN, the DataCube logs messages detailing why and when the mapping XML file ignores information.

**NOTE**: An Oracle administrator controls the logging levels. As a result, customers may need to enter a Service Request (SR) on <u>My Oracle Support</u> to have the logging level changed to WARN.

## **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help for additional information.

# DATA COLUMN ENHANCEMENTS

Data columns allow administrators to define the Commerce attributes that will be accessible in CPQ Commerce Process Manager, Transaction Searches, Reporting, and DataCubes. CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 extends the maximum number of data columns definable by administrators to 251 data columns for main document attributes and 400 data columns for sub document attributes.

### STEPS TO ENABLE

The data column enhancements are automatically available on 2017 R1 sites.

### **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help for additional information.

# **INTEGRATED SUITE**

Leverage the power of CPQ Cloud by integrating with other software applications. CPQ Cloud administrators can use the following pre-defined integrations out-of-the-box or enhance the provided integration patterns to build a strong Oracle Cloud suite.

- Commerce Cloud Integration Enhancements
- Subscription Ordering Integration Enhancements
- Integrated Cloud Service Based Integrations
- Transaction and Assets REST APIs

# **COMMERCE CLOUD INTEGRATION ENHANCEMENTS**

Self-service users in Commerce Cloud can configure complex products for purchase in Commerce Cloud using the CPQ Cloud configurator. In addition, Commerce Cloud self-service users can request a CPQ Cloud quote, thereby initiating a CPQ transaction that a sales specialist can modify, reconfigure, or discount. The Commerce Cloud integration uses the Oracle Integration Cloud Service (ICS) to provide pre-built integrations for the two user flows.

The Commerce Cloud integration available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 expands the functionality available in the 2016 R2 integration by supporting the following enhancements:

- Include BOM items in the Add to Cart payload template
- Use BOM Mapping Rules in SOAP APIs
- Generate a Configuration ID system attribute
- Add configured items to a Transaction using a single REST API Call
- Use REST service enhancements in the Request for Quote flow

**NOTE:** For additional information about each of the above enhancements, refer to the *Integrating Oracle Commerce Cloud Service and CPQ Cloud Service* implementation guide.

# INCLUDE BOM ITEMS IN THE ADD TO CART PAYLOAD TEMPLATE

The "Add to Cart" action sends items to a Commerce Cloud cart via an **Add to Cart** button, which displays on the Commerce Cloud integrated CPQ Cloud site following configuration. When implementing the Commerce Cloud integration, administrators must add the following payload template files to File Manager: AddToCartPayload-Cloud.txt, Attributes\_Payload.txt, and Recommended\_Items\_Payload.txt.

The template files support the "Add to Cart" action and form the payload structure for sending a configured item to a Commerce Cloud shopping cart. BML reads the payload template files and replaces the values in brackets, such as {{bomitems}}, with dynamic values.

**NOTE:** The "AddToCartPayload-Cloud.txt" payload template was available in the 2016 R2 Commerce Cloud integration. In 2017 R1, the template includes BOM items in the configuration information.

## USE BOM MAPPING RULES IN SOAP API RESPONSE

The Commerce Cloud integration enhancements available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 provide support for BOM Mapping Rules in SOAP API responses. The Configure SOAP API returns data related to creating or reconfiguring a model in a Transaction. The getConfigurations SOAP API returns data related to adding items to a Commerce Cloud cart using the "Add to Cart" action.

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, BOM Mapping is a property in the Input SOAP XML for both the Configure SOAP API and the getConfigurations SOAP API.

<bm:responseIncludes> <bm:price>true</bm:price> <bm:spare>true</bm:spare> <bm:bom>true</bm:bom> <bm:bomMapping>true</bm:bomMapping> <bm:attributeLabel>false</bm:attributeLabel> <bm:previousValue>false</bm:previousValue> <bm:displayedValue>false</bm:displayedValue> <bm:hideInTransactionAttributes>false</bm:hideInTransactionAttributes> <bm:ruleDetails>true/bm:ruleDetails> <bm:transaction> <bm:document var name/> <bm:id/> <bm:document number/> <bm:hide\_transaction\_response/> </bm:transaction> </bm:responseIncludes> <bm:attributes> <bm:attribute bm: variableName="includeBOM"> <bm:value>true</bm:value> </bm:attribute> </bm:attributes> </bm:configure> </soapenv:Body> </soapenv:Envelope>

Input SOAP XML BOM Mapping Property

As shown below, the SOAP API response includes a new section called bomMapping, which shows the same kind of data that is visible to administrators when in the Pipeline Viewer (e.g. partNumber, quantity, and price).



#### SOAP API Response with BOM Mapping Section

**NOTE:** The Commerce Cloud integration available with CPQ Cloud 2016 R2 required administrators to create Recommended Items corresponding to SKUs in Commerce Cloud. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, administrators can use Recommended Items, BOM Items, or both.

## GENERATE A CONFIGURATION ID SYSTEM ATTRIBUTE

A new Commerce system attribute (e.g. \_configuration\_id) is available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1. The system attribute is strictly for "Client Side" integrations. Users generate the "\_configuration\_id" when invoking Commerce or performing the "Add to Cart" action.

As shown below, the **Configuration ID** displays in the interface when Commerce Cloud self-service users create a new Transaction.

Customer Com	pany Name			Reject Reason			D	efault Request Date			•
Customer First	Name			Reject Explanation			0	rdered By			
Customer Last	Name						0	rder Date			
Actual Amount	Total Contract Value	Cancel Reason	Status	Commerce Item Id	Product Id	Catalog Ref Id	External Price	External Price Quantity	Configuration ID	Doc #	Paren
\$0.00	\$0.00					sku50001			36413915	2	
\$0.00	\$0.00					sku40002				3	2
\$0.00	\$0.00					sku40007				4	2
\$0.00	\$0.00					sku40008				5	2
\$0.00	\$0.00					sku40011				6	2
\$0.00	\$0.00					sku240202				7	2
\$0.00	\$0.00					sku240203				8	2

#### **Configuration ID Shown in Interface**

Administrators can view the configuration information associated with a Transaction by entering the "configurationId" associated with a previously generated Transaction into the getConfigurations SOAP API request.



getConfigurations SOAP API Request with Configuration ID

The following figure shows an example of the getConfigurations SOAP API response, which shows all of the configuration information associated with a Transaction, including attributes and BOM data.

```
 <bm:comments />
                                  ^ <bm:item>
                                                <bm:part>sku40008</bm:part>
                                                <bm:mandatory>false</bm:mandatory>
                                                <bm:quantity>1</bm:quantity>
                                                <br />
<b
                                                <bm:price>100</bm:price>
                                         </bm:item>
                        </bm:rule>

    <bm:rule bm:_variableName="graphicsCard">

                                <bm:comments />
                                  ^ <bm:item>
                                                <bm:part>sku40011/bm:part>
                                                <bm:mandatory>false</bm:mandatory>
                                                <bm:quantity>1</bm:quantity>
                                                <bm:comments />
                                                <bm:price>25</bm:price>
                                        </bm:item>
                        </bm:rule>
        </bm:spare>
<bm:bomMapping>
                kbm:bom_item bm:ItemId="laptopRoot" bm:ItemType="Standard Item" bm:Optional="false"
               bm:SequenceNum="1" bm:explodedQuantity="1" bm:id="BOM_laptopRoot" bm:parentId="
               bm:partNumber="sku240201" bm:price="100.0" bm:quantity="1"
               bm:variableName="laptopRoot">
                                  ∧ <bm:bomChildren>
                                                 <bm:bom_item bm:ItemId="laptopChild" bm:ItemType="Standard Item"</pre>
                                                bm:Optional="false" bm:SequenceNum="2" bm:explodedQuantity="1"
                                                bm:id="BOM_laptopChild" bm:parentId="BOM_laptopRoot"
                                                bm:partNumber="sku240202" bm:price="300.0" bm:quantity="1"
                                                bm:variableName="laptopChild" />
```

getConfigurations SOAP API Response with Configuration Data for a Transaction

The ICS *OCCS-CPQ Create Quote* integration flow uses the Configured Items API call to simplify the process used in the 2016 R2 integration, which relied on multiple API calls to create a Transaction with one or more configured items.

**NOTE**: In the 2017 R1 Commerce Cloud integration, Commerce Cloud self-service users can add one or more configured items to a CPQ Cloud Transaction using a single Configured Items API call from ICS.

# USE REST SERVICE ENHANCEMENTS IN THE REQUEST FOR QUOTE FLOW

The Request for Quote flow allows Commerce Cloud self-service users to request a CPQ Cloud quote, thereby initiating a CPQ Cloud Transaction that a sales specialist can modify, reconfigure, or discount. Once finalized in CPQ Cloud, the quote returns to Commerce Cloud for acceptance and ordering by the self-service user. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, Oracle enhances the ICS integration with Commerce Cloud through REST service enhancements to the Request for Quote flow.

The following functionality is available when creating a new Transaction via REST services:

## • Perform a Modify action

- An optional "\_modify\_action" property for the Create Transaction API allows a Transaction to be saved once created.
- If the "\_modify\_action" property is not included in the request, the REST service still creates the Transaction. No additional action runs.

# • Add models to a Transaction

- Define an optional property for "\_configuration\_id" to add one or more models to a Transaction.
- If a "\_configuration\_id" is included in a request for a new Transaction, the response is the Transaction data. Included in the Transaction data is line level data for the model.
- A model in a generated Transaction only has a "\_configuration\_id" when the Product Family's integration type is "Client Side".
- Define "\_price\_list\_price\_each" and "\_price\_net\_price" as line item system attributes
  - Line item attributes support all fields from the Price Attribute set.
  - Price Books cannot be defined for models but can be defined for parts.

- Set the following main doc and sub doc attribute types for new Transactions
  - o Date
  - Text Field
  - o Menu
  - o Integer
  - o Float
  - $\circ$  Boolean
  - o Currency
  - o Text Area
  - Phone (in an Address Set)
  - Country (in an Address Set)
  - o State (in an Address Set)
  - Zip (in an Address Set)

**NOTE:** To set custom attributes in a new Transaction, the request must specify a "\_modify\_action". Attributes are set before the "\_modify\_action" is run. For example: If an attribute is set to "a" through the request, but the "\_modify\_action" sets the attribute to "b" through Formulas or an Advanced modify, the final value of the attribute is "b".

## Sample REST Payload

The URL endpoint and sample REST payload are an example of 2017 R1 REST service enhancements.

## URL:

https://sitename.com/rest/v3/commerceDocumentsOraclecpqTransaction/actions/\_new\_transaction



#### Sample REST Payload

#### STEPS TO ENABLE

For instructions on how to implement the 2017 R1 Commerce Cloud integration, refer to the *Integrating Oracle Commerce Cloud Service and CPQ Cloud Service* implementation guide.

#### TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Consider the following tips when using the 2017 R1 Commerce Cloud integration:

- While the 2017 R1 Commerce Cloud integration supports either BOM Items or Recommended Items, customers who choose to implement asset-based services must use BOM Items.
- Among the BOM Mapping enhancements included in 2017 R1 is the ability to use BOM Mapping Rules to define child items in the BOM hierarchy as configurable models. The Commerce Cloud integration does not support this enhancement.
- There are scenarios where a Transaction successfully creates via REST services, but the "\_modify\_action" fails. By default, the response includes only the response of the "\_modify\_action". This is regardless of whether the action is successful or not. To see the responses for create and modify, define an optional property in the request. The format of the optional property is "criteria" with value "state":true. To view a sample of this optional property, refer to the *Transaction and Asset REST APIs* section of this document.
- If trying to use the "\_configuration\_Id" system attribute as dynamic data in Rich Text templates or Document Engine, customers who are upgrading must perform the Refresh Data Source action.

- When creating a Transaction with a model, the model's Price Book does not traditionally set the Transaction Price Book. However, a model with a "Client-Side" integration sets the Transaction Price Book to match the model Price Book when a quote is created. When adding parts with that model in the same Transaction, the parts must also use the same Price Book. A model without a custom Price Book defined uses the default Price Book.
- When creating a Transaction through REST services, support for Transaction currency preferences is available.
  - Administrators can define the Transaction currency even when line items (both parts and models) are part of the create request.
  - $\circ~$  Model and Transaction currencies must always match. If they do not match, the Transaction is not created.
  - If there are multiple config IDs with different currencies and Transaction currency is undefined, an error returns.

## **KEY RESOURCES**

For additional information, refer to the following resources:

- CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help
- Integrating Oracle Commerce Cloud Service and CPQ Cloud Service implementation Guide
- REST API Enhancements section of this 2017 R1 What's New document

# SUBSCRIPTION ORDERING INTEGRATION ENHANCEMENTS

The Subscription Ordering integration introduced in CPQ Cloud 2016 R1 allows sales users to review, modify, and terminate subscription or asset-based products delivered over a period-of-time. As part of continuing improvements to the Subscription Ordering integration, CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 allows customers to create orders outside of CPQ Cloud in an external client application and provides REST APIs for all asset based operations. The REST APIs enable any external client application to integrate with CPQ Cloud to implement Subscription Ordering.

The following Subscription Ordering enhancements are available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1:

- Create an order from an external client application
- Reconfigure an asset-based product using a REST API
- Create a follow-on order using a REST API
- Update an asset using a REST API
- Modify an asset using a REST API
- Terminate an asset using a REST API
- Suspend an asset using a REST API
- Resume an asset using a REST API
- Renew an asset using a REST API

### NOTES:

- Customers must implement Bill of Material (BOM) Mapping to use Subscription Ordering. For additional information, refer to the <u>BOM Mapping Implementation Guide</u>.
- Oracle is delivering a new ABO migration package and implementation guide to support the 2017 R1 Subscription Ordering implementation.
- Customers using the ABO migration package in CPQ Cloud 2016 R2 who are upgrading to CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 must make two configuration changes for the ABO migration package to continue to work. For additional information, refer to the CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 Asset Based Ordering Implementation Guide.

## **KEY CONCEPTS**

The "Add to Cart" action, "getconfigbom" and "saveconfigbom" library functions, and the fulfillment status attribute are key concepts used to enable a Subscription Ordering integration.

## ADD TO CART ACTION

As part of the CPQ Cloud – External Client Application integration, CPQ Cloud administrators must configure a "Client Side" integration to enable the **Add to Cart** button for a specific product family. The "Add to Cart" action sends items to an external client application cart via the **Add to Cart** button, which displays on the configurator UI after configuring the "Client Side" integration.

By integrating Subscription Ordering with the CPQ Cloud – External Client Application implementation, the "Add to Cart" action generates a "configId" (e.g. configuration ID) for the item added to the external client application cart. The Subscription Ordering asset-based actions use the "configId" to load a BOM instance from the CPQ Cloud configBomInstance resource, which is new in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 and supports standard REST operations.

## SAVE CONFIGBOM AND GETCONFIGBOM LIBRARY FUNCTIONS

The "saveconfigbom" and "getconfigbom" library functions are new in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1. The "saveconfigbom" library function allows users to save the BOM for non-configurator UI integration scenarios such as suspend, resume, and terminate. The library function saves a client integration BOM instance and a "configId" to the CPQ Cloud configBomInstance resource and returns a "configId".

The "getconfigbom" library function can retrieve the configbom stored via the saveConfigBom API and the configBom created via a client integration Configurator UI session. The library function extracts and returns a client integration BOM instance from the CPQ Cloud configBomInstance resource using the "configId".

**NOTE:** The "getConfigBom" action is included in the 2017 R1 ABO package. External client applications use this action to extract and return a stored configBomInstance from the CPQ Cloud configBomInstance resource using the "configId".

## FULFILLMENT STATUS ATTRIBUTES

The configBomInstance contains the asset information from the configurator UI and contains two key fields: transactionDate and fulfillmentStatus. Use the transactionDate attribute to determine the date and time of a service request, which can also be a future date. The fullfillmentStatus attribute refers to the status of the configBomInstance. An optional transactionId attribute in the configBomInstance determines the current order for which the configuration is relevant.

**NOTE:** The transactionDate, fulfillmentStatus, and transactionId fields determine whether to consider the current configBomInstance as an open order item for the asset. The fields also calculate the projected state of an asset during various ABO operations.

Upon launching a configurator session, the configBomInstance passes into the configurator session as the initial state. After a configBomInstance saves in the configBomInstance resource, Oracle recommends making updates to the fulfillmentStatus attribute in the configBomInstance resource at regular intervals during the course of order creation, submission, and fulfillment. There are four possible status values for the configBomInstance:

- **NULL**: Upon initial creation of a configBomInstance, the fullfillmentStatus is null and indicates the order was not yet submitted for fulfillment.
- **BEING\_FULFILLED**: Indicates the order was submitted to the fulfillment system.
- **FULFILLED**: Indicates the order was fulfilled and assets created.
- **CANCELLED**: Indicates the order was cancelled.

**NOTE:** Use standard REST invocation to update the fulfillmentStatus, transactionDate, and transactionId attributes in the configBomInstance resource using a "configId".

# CREATE AN ORDER FROM AN EXTERNAL CLIENT APPLICATION

By integrating Subscription Ordering with a CPQ Cloud – External Client Application integration, users of the external client application can create an order from the external client application.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Open the external client application that an administrator has integrated with CPQ Cloud.
- 2. Use the Configurator UI to configure the external client application item.
- 3. Click Add to Cart to save the item to the external client application cart. The "Add to Cart" action invokes the Delta functionality in Subscription Ordering and saves a BOM instance to the configBomInstance resource. The saved BOM instance can be identified by the "configId". The configBomInstance resource passes the "configId" and the associated BOM instance to the external client application along with a JSON payload.

# RECONFIGURE AN ASSET-BASED PRODUCT USING A REST API

The "Reconfigure" action is included in the 2017 R1 ABO package. External client application users can use this action to reconfigure an asset-based product prior to fulfillment and can perform this action on either a new asset-based product or an existing asset-based product undergoing modification.

Complete the following steps:

 Follow the steps in the "Create an Order from an External Client Application" section or modify an existing asset by selecting an asset from the **Customer Assets** page in the external client application and clicking **Modify**. The Configurator UI opens in an embedded iFrame in the external client application and displays the new or existing asset-based product.

- 2. Use the Configurator UI to make configuration changes to the quote.
- Click Add to Cart to create a new quote in the external client application cart. The action generates a new "configId" in the configBomInstance resource and sends the BOM items to the external client application cart along with the generated "configId".
- 4. Click **Reconfigure** from the external client application cart. The "Reconfigure" action invokes the Reconfig REST API on the configBomInstance. The "configId" internally calculates the projected state of the configuration and generates a "configurationURL", which is the URL for the embedded iFrame that displays the Configurator UI in the external client application.

**NOTE:** The Configurator UI will include the configuration changes made when initially creating or modifying the configBomInstance.

- 5. Use the Configurator UI to make additional changes to the configuration information.
- 6. Click Add to Cart.

The "Add to Cart" action saves the changes to the original "configId", updates the BOM instance data in the configBomInstance resource, and passes the "configId" and the reconfigured BOM instance to the external client application along with a JSON payload.

- 7. The external client application submits the modified BOM for fulfillment. After order fulfillment, the asset is updated.
- 8. Once the asset changes synchronize, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **FULFILLED**.

# CREATE A FOLLOW-ON ORDER USING A REST API

A "Follow-On Order" action on a configBomInstance is included with the 2017 R1 ABO package. External client application users can use this action to create a follow-on order from an existing order not yet fulfilled. External client application users can place a new order for an existing order line by creating a follow-on order with a fulfillment date in the future.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Create an order using items in an external client application cart.
- 2. Submit the order for fulfillment.
- 3. Select the order and click the **Follow-On Order** button on the external client application UI. This invokes the FollowOnOrder REST API on the configBomInstance and uses the previously generated "configId" to internally calculate the projected state of the existing unfulfilled order and generate a new "configurationURL".

**NOTE:** The configuratorURL is the URL of the iFrame that displays the CPQ Cloud **Model Configuration** page in the external client application. The **Model Configuration** page includes the user changes to the subscription.

- 4. Modify the configuration information using the Configurator UI.
- Click Add to Cart to create a new order in the external client application cart.
   The action generates a new "configId' in the configBomInstance resource and sends the BOM items to a external client application cart along with the generated "configId".
- 6. The external client application submits the modified BOM for fulfillment. After order fulfillment, the asset is updated.
- 7. Once the asset changes synchronize, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the Synchronize REST API using the "configId", which updates the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **FULFILLED**.

# UPDATE AN ASSET USING A REST API

When a fulfillment system fulfills an order, the external client application or the fulfillment system will invoke a REST API to create or update the assets in the assets resource. Asset creation generates a traceable item that integrates with the customer's fulfillment system. After asset creation, customers can view and maintain subscription services through the **Customer Assets** page.

Customers can use the Synchronize REST API to create or update assets after order fulfillment. For more information about the "Synchronize" action, refer to the <u>Oracle CPQ Cloud 2016R1 REST API</u> <u>documentation</u>.

# MODIFY AN ASSET USING A REST API

The "Modify Asset" action is included with the 2017 R1 ABO package. External client application users can use this action to modify an existing asset stored in CPQ Cloud.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Select an existing asset from the **Customer Assets** page in the external client application.
- Click Modify, which invokes the Modify REST API on the asset. The Modify REST API internally calculates the projected state of the asset and generates a "configurationURL", which displays the Configurator UI in an embedded iFrame in the external client application.
- 3. Use the Configurator UI to modify the asset's configuration information.
- 4. Click **Add to Cart** to create a new order in the external client application cart. The external client application user creates the new order by modifying the existing asset referenced in Step 1.

- 5. The **Add to Cart** action generates a new "configId' in the configBomInstance resource and sends the BOM items to the external client application cart along with the generated "configId".
- 6. The external client application submits the modified BOM for fulfillment and uses the standard Update API on the configBomInstance endpoint to update the fulfillmentStatus attribute to **BEING\_FULFILLED**.
- 7. Once the fulfillment system fulfills the order, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the Synchronize REST API on the asset to create or update assets.
- 8. Once the asset changes synchronize, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **FULFILLED**.

# TERMINATE AN ASSET USING A REST API

The Subscription Ordering functionality introduced in CPQ Cloud 2016 R1 allows sales users to create a subscription for service for a customer and specify a request date for the termination of the service. By integrating Subscription Ordering with a CPQ Cloud and external client application implementation, clicking **Terminate** from the **Customer Assets** page allows customers to terminate a subscription in the external client application. When the terminate action is fulfilled, the end date of the asset can be updated to the date on which the customer requests termination.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Select an asset from the **Customer Assets** page in the external client application.
- Click Terminate, which invokes a Terminate REST API on the asset. The REST API internally calculates the projected state of the asset and generates a "configId" in the configBomInstance resource. The REST API returns the "configId" as the "lineId" in the response.

**NOTE:** The external client application uses the "configId" to retrieve the BOM details using the getConfigBom REST API. The external client application submits the BOM for fulfillment and invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **BEING\_FULFILLED**.

- 3. Once the fulfillment system fulfills the order, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the Synchronize REST API on the asset to update assets and set the end date on the asset.
- 4. Once the asset changes synchronize, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **FULFILLED**.

### SUSPEND AN ASSET USING A REST API

The Subscription Ordering enhancements in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 allow external client application users to suspend their subscription service by specifying a Transaction date. By integrating Subscription Ordering with a CPQ Cloud and external client application implementation, clicking **Suspend** from the **Customer Assets** page allows self-service users to suspend a subscription in the External Client Application. When the "Suspend" action is fulfilled, the suspend date of the asset can be updated to the date on which the customer requests suspension.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Select an asset from the **Customer Assets** page in the external client application.
- Click Suspend, which invokes the Suspend REST API on the asset. The Suspend REST API internally calculates the projected state of the asset and generates a "configId" in the configBomInstance resource. The Suspend REST API response returns the "configId" as the "lineId".

**NOTE:** The external client application uses the "configId" to retrieve the BOM details using the getConfigBom REST API. Once retrieved, the external client application submits the BOM for fulfillment and invokes the REST API using the "configId" to update the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **BEING\_FULFILLED**.

- 3. Once the order is fulfilled by the fulfillment system, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the Synchronize REST API on the asset to update the assets and set the suspend date on the asset.
- 4. Once the asset changes synchronize, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **FULFILLED**.

## RESUME AN ASSET USING A REST API

The Subscription Ordering enhancements in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 allow external client application users to resume their suspended subscription service by specifying a Transaction date. By integrating Subscription Ordering with a CPQ Cloud and external client application implementation, clicking **Resume** from the **Customer Assets** page allows external client application users to resume a subscription that was suspended earlier using a suspend action in the external client application. When fulfilled, the resume date of the asset can be updated to the date on which the customer requests service to be resumed.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Select an asset from the **Customer Assets** page in the external client application.
- 2. Click **Resume** to invoke the Resume REST API on the asset.

The Resume REST API internally calculates the projected state of the asset and generates a "configId" in the configBomInstance resource. The Resume REST API response returns the "configId" as the "lineId".

**NOTE:** The external client application uses the "configId" to retrieve the BOM details using the getConfigBom REST API. The external client application then submits the BOM for fulfillment and invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **BEING\_FULFILLED**.

- 3. Once the fulfillment system fulfills the order, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the Synchronize REST API on the asset to update the assets and set the resume date on the asset.
- 4. Once asset changes synchronize, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the **fulfillmentStatus attribute** for the configBomInstance resource to **FULFILLED**.

# RENEW AN ASSET USING A REST API

The Subscription Ordering enhancements in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 allow external client application users to renew their subscription service by specifying a Transaction date. By integrating Subscription Ordering with a CPQ Cloud and external client application implementation, clicking **Renew** from the **Customer Assets** page allows external client application users to renew a subscription in the external client application. When the "Renew" action is fulfilled, the end date of the asset can be updated to a new date up to when the customer requests service renewal.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Select an asset from the **Customer Assets** page in the external client application.
- Click Renew, which invokes the Renew REST API on the asset. The Renew REST API internally calculates the projected state of the asset and generates a "configId" in the configBomInstance resource. The Renew REST API returns the "configId" as the "lineId" in the response.

**NOTE:** The external client application uses the "configId" to retrieve the BOM details using the getConfigBom REST API. The external client application then submits the BOM for fulfillment and invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the fulfillmentStatus attribute for the configBomInstance resource to **BEING\_FULFILLED**.

- 3. Once the fulfillment system fulfills the order, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the Synchronize REST API on the asset to update the asset and set the end date on the asset.
- 4. Once the asset changes synchronize, the external client application or the fulfillment system invokes the REST API using the "configId", which updates the **fulfillmentStatus attribute** for the configBomInstance resource to **FULFILLED**.

## STEPS TO ENABLE

For instructions on how to integrate Subscription Ordering, refer to the *CPQ Cloud Asset Based Ordering* implementation guide.

### **KEY RESOURCES**

For additional information, refer to the following resources:

• CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 Asset Based Ordering implementation guide.

# INTEGRATED CLOUD SERVICE CPQ ADAPTER ENHANCEMENTS

In 2017 R1, CPQ Cloud delivers Oracle Integration Cloud Service (ICS) Adapter updates to process REST APIs, in addition to the existing SOAP APIs. Customers can now build an ICS connection that calls the desired CPQ REST API web service using CPQ as the target application in the ICS integration flow. By using the power of ICS, system integrators can manage all CPQ Cloud integrations from a single location with a consistent toolset. ICS integration enables CPQ Cloud to connect to back office systems, on premise environments, and other Oracle products in a consistent, enhanced manner.

## ICS CONNECTION PROPERTIES FOR REST APIS

To access to CPQ RESTful services, select "REST Catalog URL" from the ICS Connection Type menu, then enter the REST Catalog URL in Connection URL field. The REST catalog URL is formatted as follows:

```
http(s)://site URL/rest/v3/metadata-catalog
```

Where: "site\_URL" is the base URL of the Oracle CPQ Cloud site

Connection Properties	
Enter information so we can connect to your app	lication/endpoint and process requests.
Property Name	Property Value
* Connection Type	REST Catalog URL
* Connection URL	https:/site_URL/rest/v4/metadata-catalog
	OK Cancel

**ICS Connection Properties** 

**NOTE:** Before ICS integrations using REST APIs can be built, ICS connections must be established. For information on setting up ICS connections, refer to the <u>Oracle Cloud Integration</u> web site.

## ICS INTEGRATION CATEGORIES FOR REST APIS

CPQ Business resources are grouped into different categories based on their functional usage. The ICS Integration Category will list available categories, when ICS is connected to a CPQ Cloud REST catalog. The CPQ Cloud REST Catalog will list the web services that are supported in ICS. The ICS CPQ adapter only supports REST catalog services at version v3 and above.

🖋 Basic Info	* Select Category
Category	Filter Category by name
Operations	Assets
Summary	DOCX Compare
	Transaction (Oracle Quote to Order)

**CS Integration Category** 

# ICS BUSINESS RESOURCES FOR REST APIS

After a category is selected, the business resources related to the selected category are listed in the Business Resource section. When a specific resource is selected, the applicable operations are listed in the Operations section. In the following image, the "Assets Collection" and "Create" are selected. This will invoke the CPQ Cloud Create Asset (POST) web service.

🖋 Basic Info	* Business Resource	Enter business resource na				
Category		Assets Collection Assets : Action : getConfigurationInstance Assets				
Operations						
Summary						
		Assets Collection : Action : import				
		Assets : Action : copyRootToTransaction				
	* Operations	Get All				
		Create				

#### **ICS Integration Operations**

## ICS MAPPING FOR REST APIS

Once the CPQ Cloud REST API is set as a target and a connecting web service is set as a source, users can map the applicable parameters via the user interface. The ICS interface also supports XSL map file imports for mapping. In the following image, the source and target parameters have the same names, but mapping can occur between parameters with different names.

Source	Find	Q,		👉 Mappings	Targe	t		Find	Q
⊿ <> *execute	9		1			<> *POST			
⊿ <> *rec	quest-wrapper					🔺 🏷 assets-cr	eate	form	
<>	*assetKey	<b>_</b>			0	🏷 asse	tKey	/	
<>	*attributes					🏷 attrib	utes	3	
▶ <>	*currency					► 🐎 *curr	ency	у	
$\langle \rangle$	*customer	$\bigcirc$			0	🏷 custo	mei	r	
<>	*dateAdded					🏷 date.	Add	ed	
<>	*dateModified			•		🏷 date	Vod	ified	
▶ <>	*discountAmount					🕨 🏷 *disc	oun	tAmount	
<>	*discountPercent				0	🏷 disco	unt	Percent	
<>	*displayKey				0	🏷 displ	ayK	еу	
<>	*endDate					🏷 endE	)ate		

### **ICS Mapping**

When the selected resource accepts additional query parameters, valid parameters are listed as target mapping options.

View <b>v</b>	Filter 🔄	Detach					
Target		Find	٩				
● ∡ <> *GET							
	<> QueryPar	rameters					
	<> limit						
	<> offset						
	<> totalResults						
	• <> q						
	<> fields						
	<> orderby						
	<> expand						

**ICS Query Parameter Mapping** 

### STEPS TO ENABLE

For instructions on how to set up ICS Integrations using CPQ Cloud REST APIs, refer to the <u>Oracle Cloud</u> <u>Integration</u> web site and the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help.

TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

### NOTES:

- Oracle CPQ Cloud 2016 R2 or later is required to use the REST catalog in the ICS CPQ Adapter.
- The ICS CPQ adapter only supports REST catalog services at version v3 and above.

The following items must be set up implement REST API Integrations:

- Oracle ICS Release 17.2.3 or above is required for REST API support in CPQ Cloud Adapter
- Oracle ICS, CPQ Cloud, and source application connections
- ICS integrations and source to target mapping
- CPQ Cloud Integration Processes

### **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the following resources for additional information:

- CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help Integration Cloud Service (ICS) topic
- Oracle Cloud Integration web site

# TRANSACTION AND ASSETS REST APIS

CPQ Cloud continues its effort to expose objects through REST API services, empowering customers to extend the capabilities of their CPQ Cloud implementations. In 2017 R1, CPQ introduces Version 4 (v4) REST API services, and delivers new operations for Transaction and Asset REST APIs.

- v4 REST API services provide the following enhancements:
  - o Additional functions for the expand query parameter
  - o Optimized translation responses
  - o Support for Attachment, History, Secure, and Summation attributes
  - o Support for Transaction Line Total attributes
  - Sort and filter support for Transaction Line XML based attributes that are not mapped in data columns
  - Error response support for Open Transaction Line Action
  - Shared cache support
  - o Cache refresh support
  - Improved responses for interact functions
  - o Enhancements for Submit action responses
  - A new AJAX Sensitive parameter ensures accurate state value data
- New Transaction REST API endpoints provide support for favorite and navigation functions.
- New Asset REST API endpoints expand support for Subscription Ordering integrations by providing access to configuration and subscription operations.

## V4 REST API SERVICE ENHANCEMENTS

To provide complete REST API support for Commerce actions, services that enable access to CPQ Transaction attributes and functions are essential. v4 REST API services deliver several enhancements that expand REST API services for Transactions.

## **EXPAND QUERY PARAMETER ENHANCEMENTS**

This feature provides Expand query parameter support at any level in the metadata hierarchy. Customers can now request specific child and grandchild items to retrieve the following data items:

- Attribute and action definitions at the Transaction level
- Translations and menu items at the Attribute level
- Translations at Menu Item level

Dotted notation is used to enable requests for specific items. For example, the following URI Endpoint examples demonstrate new Expand functionality.

*Example 1:* Return the Transaction and only the action definition items.

https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceProcesses/transaction\_bmClone\_2/documents
/quote?expand=actionDefs

### Example 2: Return attributes, attribute menu items, and attribute menu item translations.

```
https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceProcesses/transaction_bmClone_2/documents
/quote?expand=attributes.attributes.menuItems.attributes.menuItems.translations
```

### **OPTIMIZED TRANSLATION RESPONSES**

This feature reduces the amount of data returned if translation items contain empty values. When translations are requested, translations that have an empty value for all the properties are not returned. Translation data is returned if any property values are populated. For example, the following samples show standard and reduced content responses.

## Sample URI Endpoint

```
https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceProcesses/transaction_bmClone_2/documents
/quote/actionDefs/reject_submit/translations
```

In the following sample, the data for the "de" translation is not returned because both label and description values for the "de" translation are empty strings.

```
Ł
   language: {
      languageCode: "en",
      languageNumber: -1
   links: [{
         rel: "self",
         href: "https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceProcesses/transaction bmClone 2
/documents/quote/actionDefs/reject_submit/translations/en"
      }, {
         rel: "parent",
href: "https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceProcesses/transaction_bmClone_2
/documents/quote/actionDefs/reject_submit"
   1,
   label: "Reject[Submit]",
   description: "This action is performed when a reason is rejected by the approver."
1.
  - {
   language: {
      languageCode: "de",
      languageNumber: 0
   }.
   links: [{
         rel: "parent",
href: "https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceProcesses/transaction_bmClone_2
/documents/quote/actionDefs/reject_submit"
      }, {
         rel: "self",
         href: "https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceProcesses/transaction_bmClone_2
/documents/quote/actionDefs/reject_submit/translations/de'
     }
   1.
   label: "",
   description: ""
```
### ATTACHMENT ATTRIBUTE SUPPORT

This feature provides REST service support to update and retrieve associated file attachments. This feature allows users to update files that are associated to file attachment attributes. Users can also retrieve associated file attachments using links that are provided in the REST API response.

### HISTORY ATTRIBUTE SUPPORT

This feature allows users to retrieve and append entries to History attributes. History attributes capture an input text string along with the user's name and time.

### SECURE TEXT ATTRIBUTE SUPPORT

In previous releases, secure data attributes returned empty strings. This feature returns masked values when secure data attributes are requested.

### SUMMATION ATTRIBUTE SUPPORT

Summation is a read only entry that displays a result calculated from other attributes. This feature returns data for summation type of attributes when requested.

### SUPPORT FOR TRANSACTION LINE TOTAL ATTRIBUTES

CPQ Cloud currently supports auto sums for Commerce number and currency type attributes. When a layout has auto sum enabled for an attribute, all of the Transaction Line values for that attribute are added. The total displays at the bottom of Line Item Grid. This enhancement provides REST Service support for attribute totals. Users can request total values by using the advanced query object and totals data returns as part of the state object. The following samples show an advanced query request for the "price\_quantity" attribute.

### Advanced Query Request Sample

```
"criteria": {
      "state": true,
      "childDefs": [{
            "name": "lineItem",
            "queryDef": {
               "state": true,
               "statistics": [{
                      "attributeName": "_price_quantity",
                      "type": ["unfilteredTotal"]
                   }
               ]
            }
         }
      ]
  }
}
```

### **Response Sample**

```
"lineItem": {
    ..."_state": {
        ..."statistics": [{
            attributeName: "_price_quantity",
            "unfilteredTotal": 100
        }],
        ...
    }
}
```

### **Currency Summation**

This feature supports the Transaction Line Totals feature by returning currency type attribute total values as composite items that provide the value and the currency type. For example, the following items show returned currency attribute composite items.

- "quoteTotal": {"value": 9.49, "currency": "USD"}
- "quoteTotal": {"value": 9.49, "currency": "EUR"}

# QUERY SUPPORT FOR TRANSACTION LINE ATTRIBUTES

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, users can search, sort, and filter Transaction Line XML based attributes that have not been stored in a Data Column. This enhancement supports queries for number, Boolean, string, date, and currency fields.

### ERROR RESPONSE SUPPORT

This feature allows users to request an error response if errors occur when opening a Transaction Line. The new "errorCriteria" parameter can be used in REST services requests for Open Transaction Line and Back actions.

### SHARED CACHE SUPPORT

In previous releases, separate cache instances were created for Transactions and each Transaction Line. When a customer updated a Transaction and then navigated to a Transaction Line, the Transaction updates were not reflected for the Transaction Line. This feature allows the sharing of a cache instance between a Transaction and Transaction Lines. The shared cache will save and reflect updates as a customer navigates between a Transaction and Transaction Line Transaction Line items.

### CACHE REFRESH

The cache refresh enhancement makes the "cacheInstanceID" parameter of interact service optional, and allows users to invoke the interact service without prior initiation of a cache instance on the server. Additionally, users can pass a new parameter, "refreshCache" = true, to reload the current cache and discard the changes.

For example: Assume a customer modifies few attributes on a Transaction, and then wants to discard these unsaved changes, this service can be used to refresh the page with the saved data. This enhancement would imitate the current Transaction's 'Refresh' action behavior, where the Transaction page is reloaded and any of the unsaved changes are discarded.

Interact Parameters	Cache Behavior
cacheInstanceld is null	The response contains saved data and state information as specified by the request. A cache instance is not created.
cacheInstanceld is -1	The response contains saved data and state information as specified by the request and a new cacheInstanceId. A new cache instance is created.
cacheInstanceld is not -1, and refreshCache is true	The response contains saved data and state information as specified by the request and the cacheInstanceId. The existing cache instance is updated.

# **IMPROVED INTERACT FUNCTION RESPONSES**

A new "delta" parameter is available to request partial transaction responses when cache services are enabled. Instead of returning contents for the entire document, the response is limited to components affected by the requested services. Delta functionality is used with REST API actions by setting the delta request parameter to "true".

### **NOTE**: Cache must be initiated prior to delta response requests.

When the delta parameter is enabled and an action is invoked, only the data and state properties that have changed from the cache image are included in the response. Delta data is only calculated for the requested criteria. Customers can take advantage of this functionality to reduce the response size and return the most relevant changes. When a new attribute value is requested in a REST API, the delta comparison is performed between the input value and the final output value. If input values are not specified for the attribute, the cache value is used for the comparison.

### ENHANCEMENTS FOR SUBMIT ACTIONS

REST services for Submit related actions were delivered in 2015 R1, but these services did not return data for some of the attributes. The feature returns the data for approval, approval status, and approval history attributes.

### AJAX SENSITIVE PARAMETER

Currently the metadata for Commerce attributes has auto-update and dependency parameters. It was determined that an additional parameter was required to ensure matching state values between the server and client. The "ajaxSensitive" parameter will prevent state value difference between the client and server. This parameter indicates if an interact request is performed when an attribute is modified.

The "ajaxSensitive" should be set to "true" for the following attribute conditions:

- An attribute is marked auto-update
- An attribute is used in Formulas and AJAX rules
- An attribute is the action attribute of AJAX rules

### NEW TRANSACTION REST API SERVICES

New Transaction REST API services allow administrators to deliver the following functions:

- Navigate from a Transaction Line back to a Transaction
- Select and add favorite items to a Transaction
- Copy selected items from a Transaction to favorites

### NAVIGATE BACK

Navigate Back (POST)			
Description	This action is invoked from a Transaction Line, and returns the user to the Transaction		
URI Endpoint	<pre>/rest/v3/commerceDocuments{ProcessVarName}{MainDocName}/{id} /{subDocVarName}/{subDocNumber}/actions/{actionVarName}</pre>		
Endpoint Parameters	processVarName	The variable name of the Commerce process	
	MainDocName	The variable name of the main document	
	Id	The Commerce Transaction ID	
	subDocVarName	The variable name of the sub document	
	subDocNumber	The sub document number	
	actionVarName	The variable name of the Back action	
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	criteria is optional		
Success Response	The JSON Transaction data		

#### URI Endpoint Sample

https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceDocumentsOraclecpqoTransaction/18016533/
transactionLine/6/actions/back\_1

#### ADD TO TRANSACTION FROM FAVORITES

Add to Transaction from Favorites (POST)			
Description	This action returns a destination URL to launch the Favorites List in CPQ Cloud where users can select items to add to the transaction.		
URI Endpoint	<pre>/rest/v3/commerceDocuments{ProcessVarName}{MainDocName}/{id} /actions/{actionVarName}</pre>		
Endpoint Parameters	processVarName	The variable name of the Commerce process	
	MainDocName	The variable name of the main document	
	Id	The Commerce Transaction ID	
	actionVarName	The variable name of the Add from Favorites action	
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	documents, criteria, selections, cacheInstanceId, and skipIntegration are optional		
Success Response	The response contains	"destinationURL" to launch the Favorites List.	

### URI Endpoint Sample

```
https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceDocumentsOraclecpqoTransaction/18016533
/actions/addFromFavorites
```

#### **Request Sample**

```
{
   "selections": [lineItem/2, lineItem/4],
   "documents": {
    ...
   }
}
```

### **Response Sample**

```
{
   "destinationURL":
   "http://sitename.oracle.com/commerce/display_company_profile.jsp?action_id=17905905&
document_id=4356178&bsId=18016533&versionId=15514396&destination_url=",
   "documents": {
        "items": [
            {...
        }
}
```

### **COPY TO FAVORITES**

Copy to Favorites (POST)			
Description	The Copy to Favorites is a special action to copy selected line items from the Transaction to the Favorites List.		
URI Endpoint	<pre>/rest/v3/commerceDocuments{ProcessVarName}{MainDocName} /{id}/actions/{actionVarName}</pre>		
Endpoint Parameters	processVarName	The variable name of the Commerce process	
	MainDocName	The variable name of the main document	
	Id	The Commerce Transaction ID	
	actionVarName	The variable name of the Copy to Favorites action	
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	Selections	Required, use to specify the transaction line(s)	
Success Response	The response contains "destinationURL" to launch the Favorites List.		

### URI Endpoint Sample

```
https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v3/commerceDocumentsOraclecpqoTransaction/18016533
/actions/copyToFavorites
```

### **Request Sample**

{

```
"selections": [lineItem/2, lineItem/4],
"documents": {
    ...
}
```

#### **Response Sample**

```
{
  "destinationURL":
  "http://sitename.oracle.com/commerce/display_company_profile.jsp?action_id=17905905&
  document_id=4356178&bsId=18016533&versionId=15514396&destination_url=",
    "documents"{
        ...
     }
  }
}
```

### NEW REST API SERVICES FOR ASSETS

New Asset REST API services allow external systems to modify, terminate, suspend, resume, renew, reconfigure, and create follow-on orders for assets.

# **MODIFY ASSET**

Modify Asset (POST)			
Description	This operation calculates the projected state of the asset for the requested date and returns a configuration URL that can be used to launch the model configurator page reflecting the projected state.		
URI Endpoint	/rest/v4/assets/{id}/actions/modify		
Endpoint Parameters	Id	The asset ID	
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	sourceIdentifier	The identifier for the integration process When this parameter is not specified, the default value is "_external_order"	
	transactionDate	The request date for the asset modification	
	TransactionId	Optional, The current transaction identifier for external process integrations	
Response Parameters	configurationURL	The URL to launch the model configurator page	

#### **URI Endpoint Sample**

https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v4/assets/36562516/actions/modify

**Request Sample** 

```
"sourceIdentifier":"_external_order",
"transactionDate":"2017-04-14",
"transactionId":""
```

### **Response Sample**

}

```
{
    "result": {
        "product_line": "laptop",
        "model": "laptopModel",
        "configContextKey": "be2c0b20-49e4-4642-adfc-a207b529b282",
        "segment": "computer",
        "bomkey": "abo_98228aac-867e-43a7-9823-76dc7c444dca",
        "configuratorURL":
https://sitename.oracle.com/commerce/new_equipment/products/model_configs.jsp?_from_
partner=true&product_line=laptop&model=laptopModel&segment=computer&bm_sales_root_bo
m_item_id=abo_98228aac-867e-43a7-9823-76dc7c444dca&configContextKey=be2c0b20-49e4-
4642-adfc-a207b529b282
    }
}
```

### **TERMINATE ASSET**

Terminate Asset (POST)			
Description	This operation merges a termination request with the projected asset for the requested date, and then stores the results to a Configuration BOM Instance. For termination requests, the root item action code is set to Terminate and subordinate asset action codes are set to Delete.		
URI Endpoint	/rest/v4/assets/{i	.d}/actions/terminate	
Endpoint Parameters	id	The asset ID	
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	transactionId	Optional, used for external process integrations The current transaction identifier	
	transactionDate	The request date for the asset termination Date value must be provided in ISO format	
	sourceIdentifier	The identifier for the integration process When this parameter is not specified, the default value is "_external_order"	
Response Parameters	lineId	The Configuration ID for the Configuration BOM Instance	

URI Endpoint Sample

```
https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v4/assets/36562516/actions/terminate
```

### Request Sample

```
{
   "sourceIdentifier":"_external_order",
   "transactionDate":"2017-04-14",
   "transactionId":""
}
```

### Response Sample

```
{
    "result": {
        "lineId": "36562556"
    }
}
```

### SUSPEND ASSET

**NOTE**: Modify, reconfigure, follow-on actions cannot be performed on suspended assets.

Suspend Asset (POST)			
Description	This operation merges a suspend request with the projected asset for the requested date, and then stores the results to a Configuration BOM Instance. For suspend requests, the root and subordinate action codes are set to Suspend.		
URI Endpoint	/rest/v4/assets/{id}/actions/suspend		
Endpoint Parameters	id The asset ID		
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	transactionId	Optional, used for external process integrations The current transaction identifier	
	transactionDate	The request date for the asset termination Date value must be provided in ISO format	
	sourceIdentifier	The identifier for the integration process When this parameter is not specified, the default value is "_external_order"	
Response Parameters	lineId	The Configuration ID for the Configuration BOM Instance	

URI Endpoint Sample

https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v4/assets/36562516/actions/suspend

### Sample Request

{

}

```
"sourceIdentifier":"_external_order",
"transactionDate":"2017-04-14",
"transactionId":""
```

```
{
    "result": {
        "lineId": "36562556"
    }
}
```

### **RESUME ASSET**

**NOTE**: Resume Asset cannot be performed on active or terminated assets.

Resume Asset (POST)			
Description	This operation merges a resume request with the projected asset for the requested date, and then stores the results to a Configuration BOM Instance. For resume requests, the root and subordinate action codes are set to Resume.		
URI Endpoint	/rest/v4/assets/{id}/actions/resume		
Endpoint Parameters	id The asset ID		
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	transactionId	Optional, used for external process integrations The current transaction identifier	
	transactionDate	The request date for the asset termination Date value must be provided in ISO format	
	sourceIdentifier	The identifier for the integration process When this parameter is not specified, the default value is "_external_order"	
Response Parameters	lineId	The Configuration ID for the Configuration BOM Instance	

**URI Endpoint Sample** 

https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v4/assets/36562516/actions/resume

### Sample Request

{

```
"sourceIdentifier":"_external_order",
  "transactionDate":"2017-04-14",
  "transactionId":""
}
```

```
"result": {
   "lineId": "36562557"
  }
}
```

### **RENEW ASSET**

# **NOTE**: Renewed Assets cannot be reconfigured.

	Renev	v Asset (POST)	
Description	This operation merges a renew request with the projected asset for the requested date, and then stores the results to a Configuration BOM Instance. For renew requests, the root and subordinate action codes are set to Renew.		
URI Endpoint	/rest/v4/assets/{id}/actions/renew		
Endpoint Parameters	id The asset ID		
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	transactionId	Optional, used for external process integrations The current transaction identifier	
	transactionDate	The request date for the asset termination Date value must be provided in ISO format	
	sourceIdentifier	The identifier for the integration process When this parameter is not specified, the default value is "_external_order"	
Response Parameters	lineId	The Configuration ID for the Configuration BOM Instance	

URI Endpoint Sample

https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v4/assets/36562516/actions/renew

# Sample Request

{

}

```
"sourceIdentifier":"_external_order",
"transactionDate":"2017-04-14",
"transactionId":""
```

```
{
    "result": {
        "lineId": "36562570"
    }
}
```

### **GET CONFIGURATION INSTANCE**

Get Configuration Instance (POST)			
Description	This operation will use one of the following identifiers to retrieve a saved Configuration BOM Instance:		
	• The lineId returne	d from a T	erminate, Suspend, Resume, or Renew service
	• The config_id retu	irned by c	lient side JSON object for client integration case.
	<b>Note</b> : This service in only available for external integrations.		
URI Endpoint	/rest/v4/configBomInstance/{config_Id}/actions/getConfigBom		
Endpoint Parameters	config_Id The Configuration BOM Instance Id		
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	flattenHierachy	True	Returns a flattened BOM structure True is the default value.
		False	Returns a hierarchical BOM structure
Response Parameters	JSON data containing the saved Configuration BOM instance		

# URI Endpoint Sample

https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v4/configBomInstance/36503159/actions/getConfigBom

# Sample Request



Sample Response

}



getconfigBomInstanceResponse.txt

#### **RECONFIGURE QUOTE**

**NOTE**: Reconfigure cannot be performed on individual or fulfilled assets.

Reconfigure (POST)			
Description	This operation can be used to update a Transaction prior to fulfillment and will internally calculate the projected state of the configuration instance. It returns a new configuration URL that can be used to launch the model configurator page that will reflect the user-intended net changes to the subscription.		
URI Endpoint	/rest/v4/configBomInstance/{configId}/actions/reconfig		
Endpoint Parameters	config_id	The Configuration BOM Instance Id	
HTTP Method	POST		
Request Parameters	None		
Response Parameters	configuratorURL	The URL to launch the model configurator page	

#### **URI Endpoint Sample**

https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v4/configBomInstance/36503159/actions/reconfig

```
{
    "result": {
        "product_line": "integrationProductLine",
        "model": "integrationModel",
        "configContextKey": "11461f91-91c7-4978-a8d6-c9c3d43e97f4",
        "segment": "integration",
        "bomkey": "abo_3cf6636c-9119-4960-b185-d13daee2631d",
        "configuratorURL":
    https://sitename.oracle.com/commerce/new_equipment/products/external_reconfig.jsp?_c
    onfig_id=36503159&bm_sales_root_bom_item_id=abo_3cf6636c-9119-4960-b185-
    d13daee2631d&configContextKey=11461f91-91c7-4978-a8d6-c9c3d43e97f4
    }
}
```

### **FOLLOW-ON ORDER**

Follow-on Order (POST)				
Description	This operation is used to make changes to an existing order that has not yet been fulfilled. When a follow-on order is created, the projected state of an existing unfulfilled order is calculated and a new configuration URL is returned. The configuration URL can be used to launch the model configurator page, which will reflect the user intended net changes to the subscription.			
URI Endpoint	/rest/v4/configBomInstance/{configId}/actions/followOnOrder			
Endpoint Parameters	config_id	The Configuration Id for the Configuration BOM Instance		
HTTP Method	POST			
Request Parameters	sourceIdentifier	The identifier for the integration process When this parameter is not specified, the default value is "_external_order"		
	transactionDate	The request date for the asset modification		
	transactionId The current transaction identifier			
Response Parameters	configurationURL	The URL to launch the model configurator page		

# URI Endpoint Sample

```
https://sitename.oracle.com/rest/v4/configBomInstance/36503159/actions/followOnOrder
```

Sample Request

{

}

```
"sourceIdentifier":"_external_order",
"transactionDate":"2017-04-17",
"transactionId":"36563805"
```

Sample Response

```
{
    "result": {
        "product_line": "integrationProductLine",
        "model": "integrationModel",
        "configContextKey": "3bdd9731-bc89-483b-85d5-09e02515c6d0",
        "segment": "integration",
        "bomkey": "abo_3cf6636c-9119-4960-b185-d13daee2631d",
        "configuratorURL":
        "https://sitename.oracle.com/commerce/new_equipment/products/model_configs.jsp?_from
        _partner=true&product_line=integrationProductLine&model=integrationModel&segment=int
        egration&bm_sales_root_bom_item_id=abo_3cf6636c-9119-4960-b185-
d13daee2631d&configContextKey=3bdd9731-bc89-483b-85d5-09e02515c6d0"
    }
}
```

#### **STEPS TO ENABLE**

The Transaction and Assets REST API enhancements are available on 2017 R1 sites using v3 or above RESTful services.

#### **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the following resources for additional information:

- CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help REST API topics
- Oracle Help Center <u>REST API Services for CPQ Cloud</u>

# SIMPLIFY

Provide a simple way for administrators and end users to leverage CPQ Cloud by using the following 2017 R1 features and enhancements:

- Document Designer Enhancements
- Concurrent Transaction Access

# **DOCUMENT DESIGNER ENHANCEMENTS**

Document Designer is a drag and drop tool for creating and administering document templates. As part of continuing improvements to Document Designer, the following enhancements are available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1.

- Add inline references to RTE and HTML attributes in a Text element
- Embed RTE and HTML attributes in a table cell or a Header and Footer layout
- Use newly supported functions in conditions and loops
- Allow XSL variables in conditions and loops
- Use the Advanced Condition and Loop Editor
- Use new date and currency formats
- Auto-adjust table width
- Insert layouts and elements using double click and palette enhancements

### ADD INLINE REFERENCES TO RTE AND HTML ATTRIBUTES IN A TEXT ELEMENT

Administrators can add inline references to RTE and HTML attributes in the **Text Element** of a Document Designer template by completing the following steps.

1. Enter either **RTE** or **HTML** in the **Attribute** field of the **Text Element** dialog to find RTE or HTML attributes. The Attribute menu filters by name and variable name.

Text Element	
<b>B</b> $I \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	
E = = = = = - = - • / Ix	Attribute RTE × • Add
	Main Document Attributes
	Adv Default RTE [advDefaultRTE]
	RTE Data Default RTE (Template) [dataDefaultRTE]
	Display History RTE [displayHistoryRTE]
	Function Default RTE [functionDefaultRTE]
	How to run RTE use cases [howToRunRTEUseCases]
	Aa Modification Input RTE [modificationInputRTE]
	Modification Output RTE [modificationOutputRTE]
	Process Copy Copy From Original RTE [processCopyCopyFromOriginalRTE]
	Process Copy Use Specified Value RTE [processCopyUseSpecifiedValueRTE]
	Aa Process Manager Text Area [processManagerTextAre

Find RTE Attributes Using the Attribute Field

2. Select a specific RTE or HTML attribute from the list of Main Document Attributes.

**NOTE**: Depending on the context of the **Text Element**, Sub Document RTE and HTML attributes may also be available. For example: When the **Text Element** exists within a table cell whose row contains a defined loop.

3. Click Add to display the attribute in the Text Element dialog.



**RTE Attribute in the Text Element Dialog** 

# NOTES:

- If administrators apply formatting (e.g. font family, font size, line spacing, indentation, and style options such as bold, italic, and underline) to a RTE or HTML attribute from within the **Text Element** dialog, selecting the **Clear RTE/HTML Attribute Formatting** checkbox will override this formatting with **Text Element** formatting in the output document.
- If the content added inside an RTE or HTML attribute contains a default font family or font size, the **Text Element** formatting is applied. This occurs regardless of whether or not the administrator selects the **Clear RTE/HTML Attribute Formatting** checkbox.
- When HTML attributes contain an image within an HTML tag that has formatting such as bold, italic, or font size, the text content may overlap the image in the output document. To correct this, try removing the formatting from the HTML tag or moving the image outside the tag.
  - 4. Click **OK** to show the attribute as part of a **Text Element** in the Document Designer template.

Section	r <sub>y</sub> ā
Data Default RTE (Template)	×

RTE Attribute as Part of a Text Element

# EMBED RTE AND HTML ATTRIBUTES IN A TABLE CELL OR A HEADER AND FOOTER LAYOUT

Administrators can add an **Embed Document** element to a table cell or a **Header and Footer** layout and embed an RTE attribute or HTML attribute in the associated table cell, header, or footer.

Complete the following steps:

1. Expand the **Elements** panel and drag the **Embed Document** element from the **Elements** panel into a table cell, header, or footer.

 The Embed Document panel shows the Rich Text/HTML Attribute option selected by default. The table cell, header, or footer where the administrator placed the Embed Document element will display a placeholder for an RTE or HTML attribute.

Search	• X Section	۲. m
▶ Layouts		
▶ Elements	test html	
∠ Embed Document	A B + X	
Name New Embedded Document  PDF  Kich Text / HTML Attribute No RTE/HTML Attribute Selected  File Attachment	test Rich Text / HTML Attribute: No	

Embed Document Panel with Rich Text/HTML Attribute Selected by Default

3. From the **Rich Text/HTML Attribute** drop-down menu, select the RTE or HTML attribute to embed in the table cell, header, or footer.

	\$ X			
Search	Section			
▶ Layouts	-			
▶ Elements	test html			
✓ Embed Document				
Name	AB			
New Embedded Document	test			
• PDF	1 test			
Rich Text / HTML Attribute	Rich Text / HTML Attribute: No			
No RTE/HTML Attribute Selec 🗙 💌				
No RTE/HTML Attribute Selected	~			
Main Document Attribute	es			
AFC Disable Help [aFCDisableHelp]	0]			
Add From Catalog Advanced Help	Add From Catalog Advanced Help [addFromCatalogAdvancedHelp]			
Add From Catalog Modify Help [ad	ddFromCatalogModifyHelp]			
Add From Catalog Step Transition	Help [addFromCatalogStepTransitionHelp]			
Add From Catalog Validation Help	[addFromCatalogValidationHelp]			
RTE Adv Default RTE [advDefaultRTE]				
	edConditionHelp]			

Rich Text/HTML Attribute Option in Embed Document Panel

4. Once selected, the name of the embedded RTE or HTML attribute will display in the layout editor in the table cell, header, or footer. The embedded attribute will also display in the Document Designer output document.

Search Q	© I Section	r, m
▶ Layouts		
▶ Elements	test html	
Embed Document	А В + Х	
Name		
New Embedded Document	test	
• PDF	1 test	
Rich Text / HTML Attribute	Rich Text / HTML Attribute: Adv	
Adv Default RTE [advDefaultRTE 💌	+	
File Attachment		

Embedded Attribute in Table Cell

# USE NEWLY SUPPORTED FUNCTIONS IN CONDITIONS AND LOOPS

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, administrators can use newly supported string functions, date functions, and a Tips andBetween function for numbers.

### **String Functions**

CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 supports the following string functions in conditions and loops.

Function	Returns	Details
<pre>contains(string1, string2)</pre>	Boolean	Search string1 for existence of string2.
isNumber(string)	Boolean	Returns true if string is numeric.
<pre>startsWith(string1, string2)</pre>	Boolean	Checks whether string1 starts with string2.
endsWith(string1, string2)	Boolean	Checks whether string1 ends with string2.
isBlank(string)	Boolean	Returns <b>true</b> if string is empty, blank, or null.

### **Date Functions**

CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 supports the following date functions in conditions and loops.

Function	Returns	Details
isBefore(date1, date2)	Boolean	Returns <b>true</b> if date1 is before date2.
isAfter(date1, date2)	Boolean	Returns <b>true</b> if date1 is after date1.
equals (date1, date2) Boolean Returns true if date1 is equal to date2, inc		Returns <b>true</b> if date1 is equal to date2, including time.
equalsIgnoreTime(date1, date2) Boolean Returns true if date1 is equal to date2		Returns <b>true</b> if date1 is equal to date2, ignoring time.
<pre>dateBetween(date1, date2, date3)</pre>	Boolean	Returns <b>true</b> if the value to check is between start of range and end of range (inclusive).

### **Between Function for Numbers**

CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 supports a between function for numbers in conditions and loops.

Function	Returns	Details
between(number1, number2, number3)	Boolean	Returns <b>true</b> if number1 is between number2 and number3.

# ALLOW XSL VARIABLES IN CONDITIONS AND LOOPS

As in prior releases, administrators can add custom XSL code to Global XSL Snippets and Inline XSL Snippets. When administrators use Global XSL Snippets to create XSL variables, they can reference the XSL variables via inline XSL Snippets throughout a Document Designer template. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, administrators can use the XSL variables in conditions and loops. The entry of XSL variables into conditions and loops works the same as string entries.

For example: If an administrator starts typing '\$', a 'Literal Value' option of "\$" initially displays. If the administrator then types any character other than a space, an XSL variable option also displays.

Conditional
\$templatename ×
Literal Value
"\$templatename"
XSL Variable
\$templatename
Apply to Continuous Sections

#### Entry of XSL Variable in Condition

Q Loop					
Loop On		Sort By	Sort Type	Filter	
All Line Items	•		· ·	Yes	No
\$templatename	×				
Literal Value					
"\$templatename"					
XSL Variable					
\$templatename					
Apply to Continuous Sect	ons		Advanced	ок	Cancel

#### Entry of XSL Variable in Loop

**NOTE**: XSL variable entry does not check existing variables defined in Global or Inline XSL for a match. Administrators must therefore ensure the value entered after the \$ sign matches the value declared in the Global XSL or Inline XSL Snippet.

# USE THE ADVANCED CONDITION AND LOOP EDITOR

Administrators can convert a Simple condition or loop to an Advanced filter or loop that displays in XSL format. An **Advanced** button displays on the **Conditional** dialog and the **Loop** dialog in 2017 R1. After opening the dialogs, administrators can go directly to Advanced mode by clicking the **Advanced** button.

#### CONDITIONAL AND ADVANCED CONDITIONAL EDITORS

If a Simple condition does not exist in the **Conditional** dialog, clicking **Advanced** will load the **Advanced Conditional** dialog with no XSL content.

Conditional	
Type here to edit conditional	
Apply to Continuous Sections	Advanced OK Cancel

#### Conditional Dialog without a Simple Condition

	Advanced Conditional
1	
Ap	ly to Continuous Sections Simple Validate OK Cancel

#### Advanced Conditional Dialog with No XSL Content

When the Conditional dialog contains a Simple condition, administrators can click **Advanced** to convert the Simple condition to XSL. The following figure shows a Simple condition.

Conditional	
Quote Total (Summation) Line Item Total	
Apply to Continuous Sections	Advanced OK Cancel

**Conditional Dialog with Simple Condition** 

The **Advanced Conditional** dialog shows the Simple condition converted to XSL. The administrator can return to the Simple condition that displays in the **Conditional** dialog (shown above) by clicking **Simple**.

	Advanced Conditional	
1 - 2 - 3	<pre><xsl:choose></xsl:choose></pre>	ion/data_xml/documen
5	<pre><xsl:otherwise>0</xsl:otherwise> <td></td></pre>	
_		
	<	>
🗌 Ар	ply to Continuous Sections Simple Validate	OK Cancel

#### Simple Condition Converted to XSL

### LOOP AND ADVANCED LOOP DIALOGS

The Loop dialog by default shows All Line Items selected from the Loop On drop-down menu.

Q Loop			
Loop On	Sort By	Sort Type	Filter
All Line Items 🔹		•	Yes No
Apply to Continuous Sections			Advanced OK Cancel

Loop Dialog in Default View

Even when no filter is applied, clicking **Advanced** will construct a basic XSL loop from the default **Loop On** selection of **All Line Items**.

	> Advanced Loop
1 -	<pre>v kxsl:for-each select="/transaction/data xml/document[normalize-space(./@data type)='2' or normalize-space(./@data type)='3']"</pre>
2	CONTENT REPLACE TOKEN tag will be replaced by Component Content
3	<content replace="" token=""></content>
4	
	< >
	Simple Validate OK Oanal
	pply to Continuous Sections OK Cancel

#### Basic XSL Loop from Default Loop On Selection of All Line Items

**NOTE:** Changes to Simple loops and conditions carry over to the Advanced version of the loop or condition, but changes to Advanced loops and conditions do not carry over to Simple loops and conditions.

#### USE NEW DATE AND CURRENCY FORMATS

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, several new date and currency formats are available in the **Document Properties**, **Section Properties**, **Text**, and **Heading** panels.

Date Format	
MM-dd-yyyy HH:mm:ss Z	•
Currency	
Format	
Use Transaction Currency Fo	•
Symbol Placement	
Use Transaction Currency Fo	•

**Date and Currency Menus in Document Properties Panel** 

**NOTE:** By default, **Use Transaction Currency Format** displays in the **Currency Format** and **Symbol Placement** drop-down menus in the **Document Properties** panel. When using this option, the currency format set at the Transaction level will display in the document.

Date Format	
	▼ ]
Currency	
Format	
	▼ )
Symbol Placement	
	•

Date and Currency Menus in Section Properties, Heading, and Text Panels

**NOTE:** In the **Section Properties** panel, the **Heading** panel, and the **Text** panel, the **Date Format**, **Currency Format**, and **Symbol Placement** drop-down menus are blank by default.

# DATE ENHANCEMENTS

Shown below are the new formats included in the **Date Format** drop-down menu in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1.

Date Formats			
• dd/mm/yy	• d-mmm-yy	• mmm-dd-yy	
Example: 25/04/17	Example: 25-Apr-17	Example: Apr-25-17	
• dd/mm/yyyy	• d-mmm-yyyy	• mmm-dd-yyyy	
Example: 25/04/2017	Example: 25-Apr-2017	Example: Apr-25-2017	
• d/m/yy	• d-mmm-yy	• yyyy-mm-dd	
Example: 25/4/17	Example: 25-April-17	Example: 2017-04-25	
• d/m/yyyy	• d-mmmm-yyyy	• EEEE, d MMMM yyyy	
Example: 25/4/2017	Example: 25-April-2017	Example: Tuesday, 25 April 2017	
• ddmmyy	• yymmdd	• EEEE	
Example: 250417	Example: 170425	Example: Tuesday	
• ddmmyyyy	• yyyymmdd	• mmm-yy	
Example: 25042017	Example: 20170425	Example: Apr-17	
• ddmmmyy	• yy/mm/dd	• уу	
Example: 25Apr17	Example: 17/04/25	Example: 17	
• ddmmmyyyy	• yyyy/mm/dd	• уууу	
Example: 25Apr2017	Example: 2017/04/25	Example: 2017	
• dd-mmm-yy	• mmddyy	• dd-MMM-yyyy HH:mm:ss	
Example: 25-Apr-17	Example: 042517	Example: 25-Apr-2017 01:26:00	
• dd-mmm-yyyy	• mmddyyyy	• yyyy-MM-dd HH:mm:ss Z	
Example: 25-Apr-2017	Example: 04252017	Example: 2017-04-25 01:26:00 -0700	
• dmmmyy	• mm/dd/yy	• dd-MMM-yyyy h:mm:ss	
Example: 25Apr17	Example: 04/25/17	Example: 25-Apr-2017 01:26:00	
• dmmmyyyy	• mm/dd/yyyy		
Example: 25Apr2017	Example: 04/25/2017		

### **CURRENCY ENHANCEMENTS**

The following table shows the new currency formats included in the **Format** menu under **Currency** in the properties panel.

Display Formats			
•	#,###.##	•	#.###
•	#.###,##	•	# ###.##
•	#,###.###	•	# ###,##
•	#,##,###.##	•	# ###
•	#,###	•	#'###.##
•	#.###,##		

#### Symbol Placement

Administrators can use the **Symbol Placement** drop-down menu to select the location to place the currency symbol. As shown below, the available options include **Use Transaction Currency Format**, **Left**, **Right**, and **None**.

- Use Transaction Currency Format: The currency symbol used at the Transaction level will display.
- Left: The currency symbol will display to the left of the display format.
- **Right**: The currency symbol will display to the right of the display format.
- **None**: No currency symbol will display.

Symbol Placement	
Left	•
Use Transaction Currency Format	
Left	
Right	
None	



#### AUTO-ADJUST TABLE WIDTH

CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 includes a Total Width property and an Autofit property in the Table panel.

⊿ Table		^
Total Width: 200 px	Autofit	
Rows	Columns	_
1 ^ ^	1 ^ ^	
Background Color	Alignment	
Borders Color	Width	
Top/Bottom 🖊	<b>∨ ∧</b> px	
Left/Right 💋	<b>v ^</b> px	
Use Header		
Keep together		~

### **AUTOFIT PROPERTY**

The **Autofit** property is by default turned off. When administrators select the **Autofit** checkbox to turn the property on, the width of a table's columns automatically adjusts to fit the table within the margins of the output document. This enhancement is useful in situations where administrators conditionally hide Document Designer table columns from the output document.

For example: When a table has five columns with each one set to 20% of the page, the table columns do not automatically expand to the full width of the page when two of the columns are conditionally hidden and the **Autofit** property is turned off. Selecting the **Autofit** checkbox addresses this scenario and ensures a table's columns expand across the full width of the output document.

**NOTE:** The **Autofit** property takes effect whenever the table width is smaller or larger than the page width.

#### **TOTAL WIDTH PROPERTY**

The **Total Width** property is a read-only property that displays the sum of the width of the columns in a table and the corresponding unit of measure. The **Total Width** property includes all columns in the table, even when the table includes conditionally hidden columns. This enhancement makes it easier for administrators to adjust the width of individual table columns when the **Autofit** property is disabled.

**Total Width Property and Autofit Property** 

When administrators select multiple tables, an asterisk displays next to the **Total Width** property.

▶ Elements 🔒 👗	* *
▲ Table	A + X
Total Width: * Autofit Rows Columns 1 1 1 1 Background Color Alignment Time Filler	1 Text Element
Borders Color Width	A + X
Top/Bottom 🥖 🔷 🗸 px	
Left/Right 💋 🔽 🗸 א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א	1 Text Element
	+

Asterisk Displaying When Multiple Tables Selected

### INSERT LAYOUTS AND ELEMENTS USING DOUBLE CLICK AND PALETTE ENHANCEMENTS

Administrators now have faster ways to add layouts and elements to Document Designer templates by using the double click and palette enhancements available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1.

### **DOUBLE CLICK ENHANCEMENT**

Expand the **Layouts** panel and double click on a layout option (e.g. Section, Table of Contents, Header & Footer) to add it to a Document Designer template.



Double Click an Option in the Layouts Panel

As shown below, the layout option that was double clicked (e.g. Section) will then display in the layout editor.

Document Designer: test23		<b>_</b>	Val		<b>0</b>
English (Last Deployed: 02/1	2/2017 11:06 PM)	Preview	XSL	Deploy	Save
Search	<ul> <li>X</li> <li>A Section</li> </ul>				
⊿ Layouts					
Section					
☐ Table of Contents					
Header & Footer					
▶ Elements					
Section Properties					

Section Added to Layout Editor by Double Clicking "Section" in the Layouts Panel

Likewise, expand the **Elements** panel and double click on an element (e.g. Text, Image, Table, Heading, Column Break, Page Break, Spacer, XSL Snippet, Embed Document) to add it to a Document Designer template.

Document Designer: test23					
English (Last Deployed: 02/12	2/2017 11:06 PM)	Preview	XSL	Deploy	Save
	A <b>T</b>				
Search Q	▼ Å				
	🖌 🔓 Section				
▶ Layouts					
4 Elemente					
Text					
觉 Image					
Table					
H Heading					
Deve Dreek					
Раде Вгеак					

**Double Click an Option in the Elements Panel** 

Document Designer	test23		Preview	XSL	Deploy	Save
	English (Last Deployed: 02/12	/2017 11:06 PM)				
		\$ X				
Search	<u>م</u>	Section				

Text Element

As shown below, the element that was double clicked (e.g. Text) will then display in the layout editor.

Text Flement	Added to Lavo	ut Editor by Do	uhle Clicking "	Text" in the	Flements Panel
levi riement	Added to Layo	at Luitor by Do	uble clicking	iext in the	Liements Faner

### PALETTE ENHANCEMENT

LayoutsElements

Text

觉 Image

Table

Column Break

Page Break

Administrators can use a palette of options to add layouts and layout elements from the palette to the layout editor. The following figure shows the palette of options minimized in the layout editor.

Document Designer: test		Preview	XSL	Deploy	Save	Close
English (Last Deployed: 01/27)	2017 1:50 AM)					
Search	• I Section					r, â
▶ Layouts						
▶ Elements	test html					
Section Properties						
Name Section						
Continuous Section		J				
Orientation Columns Portrait 1						
Currency Format						
Margins (Inches)						
Q 🔍 🛍						8

Minimized Palette in the Layout Editor

Click the palette to expand its contents, which will vary based on the layout or element selected in the layout editor. For example: When a Section is selected in the layout editor, the palette displays options for Section, Table of Contents, Header & Footer, Text, Image, Table, Heading, Column Break, Page Break, Spacer, XSL Snippet, Embed Document, and Hide Palette. Administrators can click a palette icon to add the associated element to the layout editor.

Document Designer: test English (Last Deployed: 01/27)	R017 1:50 AM)	Preview XSL Deploy Save Close
Search	e I Section	
▶ Layouts		
▶ Elements	test html	
✓ Section Properties		
Name		
Section		
Description	1 test	
Continuous Section		
Orientation Columns	c.	
Portrait V		
Date Format		
Currency Format		
Margins (Inches)		
Q 🔍 🌆		

Layout Editor Showing Palette Options for a Section

When administrators select a **Header & Footer** in the layout editor, the palette displays icons for Section, Table of Contents, Header & Footer, Text, Image, Table, Spacer, XSL Snippet, and Embed Document.



Palette Options for a Header & Footer

When administrators select a **Table of Contents** in the layout editor, the palette displays options for Section, Table of Contents, and Header & Footer.



Palette Options for Table of Contents

When administrators select a **Table Cell** in the layout editor, the palette displays options for Section, Table of Contents, Header & Footer, Text, Image, Spacer, XSL Snippet, and Embed Document.

	•🗎 X	1
--	------	---

Palette Options or a Table Cell

#### STEPS TO ENABLE

The Document Designer enhancements are automatically available on 2017 R1 sites.

### TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Consider the following tips when using the 2017 R1 Document Designer enhancements:

- When using a multi-language Designer Template, administrators can use different date and currency formats for different languages. Each language has its own hierarchy.
- The **Autofit** property does not affect table borders, table padding, or section margins.
- When administrators expand a palette, they can drag the palette anywhere in the layout editor.
- The following enhancements are available in both Document Designer and Email Designer:
  - **Total Width** property
  - o Add RTE and HTML attributes to a Text element
  - Currency and date format enhancements
  - Double click and palette enhancements

**NOTE:** Since Email Designer templates do not have Layout elements, only Text, Image, and Table elements are available in the palette for Email Designer. When a table cell is selected in Email Designer, only the Text and Image elements are available in the palette.

- When administrators select the Clear RTE/HTML Attribute Formatting checkbox in Email Designer:
  - Table background color is removed and is not applied by the text component for HTML and RTE attributes
  - Background color is not applied to content inside an RTE attribute

**NOTE:** Underline and strike through formatting is applied to child items for both RTE and HTML attributes in Email Designer when the **Clear RTE/HTML Attribute Formatting** checkbox is unchecked.

#### **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help for additional information.

# CONCURRENT TRANSACTION ACCESS

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, administrators can enable Transaction locking in a Commerce process. This feature is beneficial to CPQ Cloud customers who have multiple users, such as sales representatives, working concurrently on Transactions by performing actions such as adding different products to the same Transaction or updating different fields in the same Transaction. Locking a Transaction provides users with full control of a Transaction and prevents conflicting changes to the same Transaction.

When the user who locks a Transaction for editing (e.g. the Transaction owner) performs an auto-unlock action, logs out of CPQ Cloud, or their CPQ Cloud session times out, the Transaction automatically unlocks. Administrators can open a Service Request (SR) on <u>My Oracle Support</u> to request a specific session timeout value. Administrators have the option of allowing users other than the Transaction owner to unlock a locked Transaction.

The following Concurrent Transaction Access functionality is available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1:

- Enable Transaction locking
- Mark a single action as an auto-unlock action
- Lock a Transaction upon opening it in Transaction Manager
- Open a locked Transaction
- Unlock a Transaction
- Use the process-level Unlock action
- Include lock state attributes in Transaction search results
- Use a REST API to request the state of a Transaction
- Allow Web Services Only users perform Transaction actions
- Use SOAP or REST APIs to unlock Transactions
- Set a destination for Back type actions

### ENABLE TRANSACTION LOCKING

When administrators enable Transaction locking for an existing Commerce process, the following actions are by default available and selected on the **Process Administration** page under **Actions to Automatically Unlock Transaction**: **Back**, **Version**, **Request Approval**, **Approve**, and **Reject**. These actions are all main document action types that perform their implied action and unlock a Transaction when performed by the Transaction owner. Administrators can edit the list of auto-unlock actions by unselecting any of the default auto-unlock actions or adding one or more **Modify** main document action types to the list of auto-unlock actions.

**NOTE**: When administrators add a new action to a process that already has Transaction locking enabled, the action will automatically display in the list of **Actions to Automatically Unlock Transaction**.

CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 also introduces a new **Unlock** main document action type. As is the case with actions that have auto-unlock enabled, **Unlock** type actions unlock a Transaction when performed. However, **Unlock** type actions do not perform any further action on the Transaction, such as modify. Administrators can configure the Commerce process to allow users other than the Transaction owner to unlock a Transaction using an **Unlock** type action.

Complete the following steps:

- 1. Click **Admin** to go to the Admin Home page.
- Click Process Definition in the Commerce and Documents section. The Processes page opens.
- 3. Select the name of an existing Commerce process to open the **Process Administration** page or click **Add** to use the **Process Administration** page to create a new Commerce process.
- 4. Select the **Enable Transaction Locking** checkbox. The following two additional options will display on the **Process Administration** page:
  - Let Other Users Perform Unlock Actions Lets users other than the Transaction owner unlock a Transaction when their Participant Profile grants access to a main document action of the new Unlock action type.
  - Actions to Automatically Unlock Transaction Displays a list of auto-unlock actions: Back, Version, Request Approval, Approve, and Reject. Administrators can also add a Modify main document action to the list of auto-unlock actions. Press the CTRL key and select the actions to include as auto-unlock actions. When the Transaction owner performs any of the autounlock actions, the Transaction will unlock.

**NOTE:** In the below list of **Actions to Automatically Unlock Transaction**, **Save** and **Modify and Unlock** are **Modify** main document action type that the administrator added to the list of auto-unlock actions. The other options are main document actions that, by default, are included in the list of auto-unlock actions.
Process Administ	tration					
Process Manager Settings			Description	on		
*Process Name:	Transaction					
*Variable Name:	test		_			
Description:						
Layout:	Legacy Desktop UI O Alt	a Responsive UI				
Tab Label:		~				
*Page Length:	6 🗸		Determine show at a	s the numl time.	per of transac	tions to
Auto Fill Options:	None 🗸		Select from	n the provi	ded autofill op	ptions
Fiscal Year Start Date:	1 🗸		Month/Day reporting.	/ Fiscal yea	ar start date f	or
Secure Attribute Encryption Key:		Browse	Public key attributes.	used for e	ncrypting sec	ure
Enable Transaction Locking:	$\checkmark$		Allows a u editing.	ser to lock	a Transactio	n for
Let Other Users Perform Unlock Actions:			Lets users to unlock t level Unloc	who did n he Transa ck Actions.	ot lock a Trar ction using Do	isaction ocument-
Actions to Automatically Unlock Transaction:	Approve[Submit] Back Modify and Unlock Reject[Submit] Request Approval[Submit] Save Version		Actions the Transactio who locked	at automat on when pe d the Trans	ically unlock a rformed by th saction.	a ie user
					Back	to Top
			Translations	Apply	Update	Back

#### **Enable Transaction Locking**

- 5. Click **Apply** to save your changes.
- 6. Deploy the Commerce process in the **Deployment Center**. Whenever administrators make changes on the **Process Administration** page, they must deploy the changes for the changes to take effect.

**NOTE:** To disable Transaction locking, return to the **Process Administration** page, uncheck the **Enable Transaction Locking** checkbox, and deploy the change. After disabling Transaction locking for a Commerce process, all of the previous locked Transactions in the Commerce process are effectively unlocked until a periodic background task removes the lock completely.

### MARK A SINGLE ACTION AS AN AUTO-UNLOCK ACTION

To mark a single action as an auto-unlock action, administrators can open the **Admin Action** page for the action and select the **Automatically Unlock Transaction** checkbox. The checkbox is similar to the **Actions to Automatically Unlock Transaction checkbox** on the **Process Administration** page, but sets a single action as an auto-unlock action.

Admin Action	(save)				Do	ocument : Transaction	> Main
General Modify Destination Integration	Document Views						
*Label: *Variable Name: Email Notification Keyword Approval Comment Mapping Description:	Save save	All possib	le values can be s	separated v	with a tilde (r	e.g.: Accept~Approve,	)
Action Icon:	Browse						
Show Loading Dialog:	● No ○ Yes						
Action Timeout:	minutes						
Execute Action If Associated Integrations Timeout: Automatically Unlock Transaction: Desktop Layout Path: - Sticky Action Bar	Save and Edit Desktop Layout						
Mobile Layout Path: Unassigned	Save and Create Mobile Layout						
Advanced Modify - Before Formulas	<ul> <li>No Advanced Modify - Before Formulas</li> <li>Define Advanced Modify - Before Form</li> </ul>	ılas	Define Function	on			
Advanced Modify - After Formulas	No Advanced Modify - After Formulas     Define Advanced Modify - After Formula	15	Define Function	on			
Advanced Validation	<ul> <li>Simple Validations</li> <li>Define Validation Rules (deprecated - u</li> <li>Save Without Validating</li> <li>Modify Without Saving or Validating</li> </ul>	se Commerc	* Change is perforr	Function es to the do med, and tr	ocument will ransition rule	not be saved when th es will not trigger. Bacl	ie action k to Top
			Translations	Apply	Update	Update and New	Back

Admin Action Page with Automatically Unlock Transaction Checkbox

#### LOCK A TRANSACTION UPON OPENING IT IN TRANSACTION MANAGER

When a user creates a new Transaction, the Transaction immediately locks for the user when created. Users lock Transactions for editing by opening **Transaction Manager** and clicking on a link to the Transaction.

		Search New Transac	tion Print Email	Forward Cop	y Refresh
Views	Test - Manager				
	Select	ID#	BS II	C	
📮 Manage		194294	82 <u>1942</u>	9482	
		194358	89 <u>1943</u>	5889	
Folders					
Elefault]	Select All	Select Folder: [Default] V	Move	1 - 2 of 2	Back to Top
itrash]					
Edit		Search New Transac	ction Print Email	Forward	Refresh

#### **Transaction Manager**

The Transaction opens in edit mode for the Transaction owner, who then has the Transaction locked for editing. With the exception of Web Services Only users, no other users can edit a locked Transaction.

**NOTE:** Web Services Only users can update a Transaction via SOAP and REST APIs, even when a Transaction is locked for editing by another user.

									Refresh	Save Unlock	Version Ba	ack
Qu	ote In	formation										
ł	s_id			19503480			Document Currency		USD			
L I	ocked ?			true			Document Pricebook		_defa	ault_price_book		
۱	ock By			john			*Document Languag	e	Engl	lish	~	
l	ock Date	e		04/25/2017 11:	52:35							
		0	Doc #	Seq #	Item		PDN	Quantity	Unit Pric	e	Subtotal	
		0 4 0 0	4	1		Dell optiPlex 3040	Dell optiPlex 3040	1		\$45	0.00 \$450.0	0
		0 4 0 0	2	2		Dell Latitude 15 3000	Dell Latitude 15 3000	1		\$50	0.00 \$500.0	0
	Totals									\$950	.00 \$950.0	00
						1 Go to 🗸						
						Add	I From Catalog	ne Items Reconf	gure	Remove Sub	late Line Items	)

Transaction in Edit Mode for the Transaction Owner

#### UNLOCK A TRANSACTION

When a Transaction owner performs any of the main document actions selected by an administrator in the **Actions to Automatically Unlock Transaction** list, a locked Transaction will unlock.

For example: If an administrator selects **Back** and **Version** as the **Actions to Automatically Unlock Transaction**, the user who locks a Transaction for editing becomes the Transaction owner and can unlock the Transaction by clicking either **Back** or **Version**.

When an administrator selects the **Let Other Users Perform Unlock Actions** checkbox on the **Process Administration** page, users other than the Transaction owner can unlock a locked Transaction when the main document has an Unlock type action that is available to those users via their Participant Profiles.

**Note:** When the Transaction owner logs out of CPQ Cloud or their CPQ Cloud session times out, the locked Transaction automatically unlocks.

#### **OPEN A LOCKED TRANSACTION**

When a Transaction owner has a Transaction locked for editing, the locked Transaction displays in readonly mode when other users open the Transaction.

For example: If another user opens a Transaction while the Transaction owner has the Transaction locked for editing, the attributes and line items in the main document (e.g. Transaction) display in read-only mode.

		Doc #	Seq #	Item	PDN	Quantity	Unit Price	Subtotal
	4	2	1	Computer		1	\$0.00	\$0.00
•	Z	3	2	Dell Latitude 15 3000	Dell Latitude 15 3000	1	\$500.00	\$500.00
•	4	4	3	Dell optiPlex 3040	Dell optiPlex 3040	1	\$450.00	\$450.00
•	4	5	4	Speakers	Speakers	1	\$20.00	\$20.00
•	A	6	5	Wireless Keyboard	Wireless Keyboard	1	\$30.00	\$30.00
•	4	7	6	Wireless Mouse	Wireless Mouse	1	\$10.00	\$10.00
Totals							\$1,010.00	\$1,010.00

#### Transaction Displaying in Read-Only Mode

**NOTE:** Other users can still open sub documents (e.g. Transaction lines) from the Line Item Grid; however, the sub documents will display in read-only mode.

### USE THE PROCESS-LEVEL UNLOCK ACTION

A **Lock Status** column displays in **Transaction Manager** whenever administrators enable Transaction locking for a Commerce process. Full Access users can use **Transaction Manager** to view a list of locked Transactions for a specific Commerce process. An icon displays in the **Lock Status** column next to each locked Transaction.

10	Search Ne	w Transaction	Data Errors	Unlock	Print	Email	Forward	Сору	Refresh
Views	Transactio	on - Manager							
✓ ○	Select	Loc	k Status			BS	ID		
📮 Manage 🔍 Refine		_				<u>194</u>	74863		
						<u>194</u>	70176		
Folders						10/	04045		
🔄 [Default]						194	61045		
iTrash]						<u>194</u>	75531		
Edit						<u>194</u>	70083		
						<u>194</u>	73811		
	Select A	All Select Fold	der: [Default] 🗸	Move	) 1	- 6 of 35	Next 6	>   <u>B</u> a	ack to Top
	Search	w Transaction	Data Errors	Unlock	Print	Email	Forward	Сору	Refresh

Transaction Manager with Process-Level Unlock Action, Lock Status Column, and Lock Icon

Select the Transactions to unlock and click **Unlock**, which is a process-level **Unlock** action available in **Transaction Manager** when all of the following apply:

- At least one Transaction displays in Transaction Manager
- Transaction locking is enabled in the deployed process
- The user has access to the Unlock process action

To grant access to the **Unlock** process action, navigate to the **Process Action List** page and select the **Access Rights** link next to the **Unlock** action.

Process Action L	ist			Process : Transaction
Action Name	Navigation	Туре	Description	Date Last Modified
Copy	Sequence List	Сору	Used to copy a process transaction	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
<u>Email</u>		Email	Sends a document via email/fax	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
Export File Attachments		Export File Attachments	Exports file attachments via Web Services	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
Forward		Forward	Used to forwards documents to other users	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
Import File Attachments		Import File Attachments	Imports file attachments via Web Services	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
Move		Move	Used to move documents between folders	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
New Transaction	Access Rights	New Transaction	Used to create a new transaction with no line items	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
<u> Open - Main</u>		Open Document		04/05/2017 8:23 AM
Print		Print	Generates documents in printer friendly format	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
<u>Unlock</u>	Access Rights	Unlock	Used to unlock transactions.	04/05/2017 8:23 AM
				Back to Top
			ſ	
				Translations Back

**Process Action List – Access Rights Link** 

Use the Access Rights Editor to grant Full Access users with access to the Unlock process action.

Access Rights Editor	Action : Transaction > Unlock
*Company Type: *User Types: FullAccess FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company FullAccess Company Company FullAccess Company	
	Back to Top
	Apply Update Back

Access Rights Editor

#### INCLUDE LOCK STATE ATTRIBUTES IN TRANSACTION SEARCH RESULTS

When users click **Search** from **Transaction Manager**, they can select the special attributes and main attributes to display as the columns in the search results. In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, **Lock Status**, **Locked By**, and **Date Locked** are included as **Special Attributes**.

		Previous	Next	View Manage	er Close
Step 1: Select Filters > Step 2: Select C View Builder	Columns				
Column Attributes					
Special Attributes					
D#	Selected Currency				
Lock Status	Locked By		✓ Date L	ocked	
Main Attributes					
BS ID					
				E	Back to Top
		Previous	Next	View Manage	er Close

Lock Status, Locked By, and Date Locked as Special Attributes

When users opt to mark the **Lock Status**, **Locked By**, and **Date Locked** checkboxes to include these special attributes as search result columns, they can specify the order in which to display the columns in the search results.

	Previous View Manager Search Clos
Step 1: Select Filters > Step 2: Select Columns > Step 3: E View Builder	ditor
Search Editor Page Length:	6
Filter Attributes	
Attribute     Comparator     Value       ID#         BS ID	Range Comparator   Value
Column Attributes	
Order Number     Attribute       1     Lock Status       2     Locked By       3     Date Locked	Display as Link
	Back to To Previous View Manager Search Clos

Specifying Order of Lock Status, Locked By, and Date Locked Columns

The following is an example of the **Lock Status**, **Locked By**, and **Date Locked** special attributes displayed as columns in the search results.

	Back Archive Forward Print Email Copy Export Close								
Ad I Search F	HOC Search								
*Name:	Coulto	7							
Descript	tion:		Save As View						
Sea	rch Results for Pr	ocess : Transaction							
Select	Lock Status	Locked By	Date Locked						
		superuser [Super User]	04/05/2017 12:19 PM						
	A	superuser [Super User]	04/05/2017 12:17 PM						
		superuser [Super User]	04/05/2017 12:17 PM						
	Click here to open								
	Click here to open								
	Click here to open								
Se	lect All Select Folde	er: [Default] V Move 1 -	6 of 35   <u>Next 6 &gt;</u>   <u>Back to Top</u>						
	Back	Archive Forward Print	Email Copy Export Close						

Locked Status, Locked By, and Date Locked as Columns in Search Results

## USE A REST API TO REQUEST THE STATE OF A TRANSACTION

When using a Transaction REST API to request the "\_state" of a locked Transaction, the response shows the Transaction's attributes as read-only and the actions as active or inactive.

## ALLOW WEB SERVICES ONLY USERS TO PERFORM TRANSACTION ACTIONS

When SOAP or REST API requests for a Transaction come from a "Web Services Only" user, the action performs as usual even when performed against a locked Transaction. The owner of a lock on a Transaction remains the same after a "Web Services Only" user performs an action on a locked Transaction. A "Web Services Only" user can unlock a locked Transaction by performing an auto-unlock action or the **Unlock** action.

## USE SOAP OR REST APIS TO UNLOCK TRANSACTIONS

Creating a Transaction using a REST API locks the Transaction by the current user. When another user opens a locked Transaction, the current lock on the Transaction does not transfer. In REST, performing any Open Document type action API locks the Transaction. Using the GET Transaction API does not lock the Transaction.

When using a SOAP or REST API to unlock a Transaction, the Transaction owner can still perform any action on the Transaction or perform an auto-unlock action to unlock the Transaction. Any user can perform an auto-unlock action to unlock a Transaction, provided the action is active for the user on the step in which the Transaction is on.

## SET A DESTINATION FOR BACK TYPE ACTIONS

In CPQ Cloud 2017 R1, a **Destination** tab is available for all Commerce Back type actions. Since Modify actions are not available when opening a Transaction locked by a different user, administrators who need this functionality must create a Back type action and set the **Destination** tab appropriately. This functionality makes it easier for users to leave a locked Transaction.

For example: If Salesforce users access a locked Transaction, they are by default missing a **Return to Opportunity** button. As a result, they have no easy way to get back to the opportunity when CPQ Cloud is not running in an iFrame. The **Destination** tab for Back type actions resolves this issue. Administrators can use the **Destination** tab to set a Salesforce destination for a Back type action. When Salesforce users access a locked Transaction, they can return to Salesforce upon performing the Back type action.

Described below are the destination types available in the **Destination** tab for Back type actions and the functionality that occurs upon clicking a Back type action from a locked Transaction:

- **Parent Page**: The user returns to the page they were on prior to accessing the locked Transaction, such as **Transaction Manager** or Salesforce. Parent page is the default destination type.
- Same Page: The user remains on the locked Transaction.
- Custom Destination: The user is taken to the URL specified in this field.
- **Partner Object ID Attribute**: The user is taken to the appropriate object on the partner site. A valid value for this field is the variable name of the attribute that stores the partner object ID information.
- **Define Destination Rule**: The user is taken to the URL returned by running a BML function. The valid return value for this function is a string. Any URL whose relative path is a page on the CPQ Cloud application is a valid return value.

#### STEPS TO ENABLE

The Concurrent Transaction Access feature is automatically available on 2017 R1 sites.

### TIPS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Consider the following tips when using the 2017 R1 Concurrent Transaction Access feature:

- When the **Enable Transaction Locking** checkbox is not marked, administrators can still view, update, or delete Unlock type actions. End-users cannot execute the actions unless an administrator enables the Transaction locking feature.
- When users other than the Transaction owner open a locked Transaction, the attributes and line items on the main document display in read-only mode.
- Approvers cannot approve or reject a locked Transaction.
- When administrators use the **Deployment Center** to perform a mass update of Transactions, locked Transactions are included in the deployment.
- When creating a new Commerce process, no options display by default in the Actions to
  Automatically Unlock Transaction list. Administrators must add one or more main
  documents to the process and add one or more actions to the main document. If the actions
  are eligible for auto-lock, they will display in the Actions to Automatically Unlock
  Transaction list.

#### **KEY RESOURCES**

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Administration Online Help for additional information.

## PRE-UPGRADE CONSIDERATIONS

#### KNOWN FUNCTIONALITY

#### WEB SERVICE SUPPORT FOR BOM MAPPING RULES

This release introduces the bomMapping element to the Configuration configure and getConfiguration SOAP APIs (v1 and v2). When the item is set to "true", the SOAP API returns the related BOM Mapping data.

#### Sample XML Input

```
<bm:responseIncludes>
```

```
<bm:bomMapping>true</bm:bomMapping>
```

• • •

```
</bm:responseIncludes>
```

#### Sample Response



Note: Refer to Commerce Cloud Integration Enhancements for additional information.

#### **CONFIGURATION ID – COMMERCE SYSTEM ATTRIBUTE**

A new Commerce system attribute (e.g. \_configuration\_id) is available in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1. The Configuration ID attribute is used for the Configuration BOM Instance ID.

#### MIGRATION

When migrating from one site to another using the Migration Center, both sites must use the same major release. Content may only be migrated across minor releases within the same major release. Migration across major releases cannot occur.

- "Major release" = A major product release, e.g. 2017 R1
- "Minor release" = A release update, e.g. 2017 R1 Update 1

#### **RESOLVED KNOWN ISSUES**

For information on bugs fixed in 2017 R1, refer to the 2017 R1 Resolved Known Issues document available on <u>My Oracle Support</u> and the CPQ Cloud Online Help.

#### TRANSLATION

For some system-defined messages and components, strings were removed and others added in CPQ Cloud 2017 R1. If you have created your own implementation-specific translations of system-defined strings, some of these strings may no longer appear. Other strings may appear in English. The strings appearing in English are new and require translation.

Most of these messages and components are on the Admin side of CPQ Cloud, but you should review both your end user and administration pages before deploying your updated installation to confirm that all strings appear in the desired language.

#### TRANSLATION STATUS

CPQ Cloud supports the consumption of both single and multi-byte character sets. Submit a service request on <u>My Oracle Support</u> to enable your site for a new language.

For the following languages, a translation of the CPQ Cloud user interface is available for both the platform and the reference application:

- Chinese (Simplified) [China]
- Chinese (Traditional) [Taiwan]
- Czech [Czech Republic]
- Danish [Denmark]
- Dutch [Netherlands]
- English
- Finnish [Finland]
- French
- French [Canada]
- German
- Hungarian [Hungary
- Italian
- Japanese [Japan]
- Korean [South Korea]
- Norwegian (Bokmål) [Norway]
- Polish [Poland]
- Portuguese [Brazil]
- Romanian [Romania]
- Russian [Russia]
- Spanish (Worldwide)
- Swedish [Sweden]
- Turkish [Turkey]

# **POST-UPGRADE CONSIDERATIONS**

Upgrade and test all test instances on Oracle CPQ Cloud 2017 R1 before upgrading to production.

## **BROWSER SUPPORT**

CPQ Cloud supports all browser versions that meet the criteria of the Oracle Software Web Browser Support Policy.

## SUPPORTED BROWSERS

#### Windows

- Major releases of Google Chrome upon general browser availability and until Google no longer supports the version
- Major releases of Mozilla Firefox upon general browser availability and until Mozilla no longer supports the version
- Major releases of Internet Explorer/Microsoft Edge within nine months of general browser availability and until Microsoft no longer supports the version

#### Mac OS X

- Major releases of Google Chrome upon general browser availability and until Google no longer supports the browser version
- Major releases of Mozilla Firefox upon general browser availability and until Mozilla no longer supports the version
- Major releases of Safari within nine months of general browser availability and until Apple no longer supports the version

## iOS

• Major releases of Safari within nine months of general browser availability and until Apple no longer supports the browser version.

If you experience issues using a supported browser version, open a ticket on <u>My Oracle Support</u> to resolve the issue. If an issue arises when using a supported browser, use a certified browser version until a fix is delivered. Certified browsers are selected based on current market share and are thoroughly tested to work with the current version's standard functionality.

#### **CERTIFIED BROWSERS**

#### Windows

- Google Chrome 58.x
- Mozilla Firefox 53.x
- Internet Explorer 11.x

## iOS

- Operating System: iOS 10.x
- Browser: Safari 10.x
- Screen resolution: 2048 x 1536

**NOTE:** Compatibility issues with the selected browsers may exist when sites contain additional JavaScript, alternate CSS, or other custom functionality. Customizations may require add-on work. Contact <u>My Oracle Support</u> to determine the availability of workarounds and minor fixes.

## SALESFORCE MANAGED PACKAGE SUPPORT

CPQ Cloud no longer releases updates to the Salesforce Managed Packages prior to v7.0. With the release of 2017 R1, only Managed Package v7.x is officially supported. Although Oracle expects Salesforce integrations that use a Managed Package prior to v7.0 to function, new issues that arise in these versions are not addressed by CPQ Cloud.

## TRAINING

Please refer to the release documentation for all versions between your current version and the version to which you are upgrading to see all new functionality, resolved known issues, and functional known issues.

Refer to the CPQ Cloud Online Help to become familiar with the new features introduced in Oracle CPQ Cloud 2016 R2. For additional help, see <u>My Oracle Support</u>.

Verify any information not explicitly mentioned in this document as supported by the software against the product help for Oracle CPQ Cloud 2016 R2 or the Oracle CPQ Cloud Consulting team.

### ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

For more information on Oracle CPQ Cloud, visit the Oracle CPQ Cloud documentation site.

### DISCLAIMER

The details in this document are provided for high-level informational purposes only and are not intended to function as a specification or to replace the Online Help. Upgrading to a subsequent release may require the re-deployment of Commerce Processes, Configuration, or global function settings. Modifications to integration XSL files or APIs may also be required.

C | Oracle is committed to developing practices and products that help protect the environment

#### Copyright © 2017, Oracle and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

This document is provided for information purposes only, and the contents hereof are subject to change without notice. This document is not warranted to be error-free, nor subject to any other warranties or conditions, whether expressed orally or implied in law, including implied warranties and conditions of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. We specifically disclaim any liability with respect to this document, and no contractual obligations are formed either directly or indirectly by this document. This document may not be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, for any purpose, without our prior written permission.

Oracle and Java are registered trademarks of Oracle and/or its affiliates. Other names may be trademarks of their respective owners.

Intel and Intel Xeon are trademarks or registered trademarks of Intel Corporation. All SPARC trademarks are used under license and are trademarks or registered trademarks of SPARC International, Inc. AMD, Opteron, the AMD logo, and the AMD Opteron logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Advanced Micro Devices. UNIX is a registered trademark of The Open Group.

Integrated Cloud Applications & Platform Services